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CIVIL RIGHTS

‘WEDNESDAY, JULY 17, 1963

House or REPRESENTATIVES,
Suscomurrree No. 5 oF THE
CoMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to adjournment, at 10 a.m., in
room 346, Cannon Building, Hon. Emanuel Celler (chairman of the
subcommittee) presiding. i

Present: Representatives Celler, Rogers, Toll; Kastenmeier, Mc-
Culloch, Meader, and Cramer.

Also present : Representatives Lindsay and Corman.

Staff members present: William R:. Foley, general counsel, and
William H. Copenhayver, associate counsel.

Mr. CeLier. First is Mr. George Meany, president of the AFL and
the Congress of Industrial Organizations. We look on you as a very
dedicated person. Will you identify your associates?

STATEMENT OF GEORGE MEANY, PRESIDENT, AFI~CIO, ACCOM-
PANIED BY THOMAS E. HARRIS, ANDREW J. BIEMILLER, AND
MR. WOLL

Mr.Mrany. Mr. Harris, Mr. Woll and Mr. Biemiller.

Mr. Cerrer. I knew your dad. He was a very skillful labor leader.
‘We are glad to have you, Mr. Meany.

Mr. Meany. Let me say at the outset, speaking on behalf of the
AFL~CIO, that we are happy to present our views on civil rights
legislation in an atmosphere of what I hope is impending action by
the Congress. I am sure as you kmow we have appeared many times
before many congressional committees, under far ﬁ)%s promising cir-
cumstances.

In the course of preparing this testimony, I looked through our
files for a sampling of the civil rights statements we have made over
the years—not only the congressional testimony, but convention reso-
lutions and policy declarations by the AFL~CIO, and earlier, by the
AFL and CIO as separate federations.

Those statements are remarkably consistent. They are not only
consistent in what they propose; they-are also consistent in their
sense of urgency.

We have been insisting for a long time that establishing and main-
taining full and equal rights for Negro Americans is a matter of
“here and now.” We have done this in the full knowledge that not
all individual units of the trade union movement agree with the
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policies adopted, without apparent dissent, at trade union conven-
tions.

This has contributed to our sense of urgency. The labor movement
has not been the only advocate of civil rights legislation during the
last decade; there have been the church groups, and of course the
Negro organizations themselves. But I think it is fair to say that
we are the only one, among the civil rights forces, which has openly
called for legislation for the correction of shortcomings within its
own rank.

On this score our credentials cannot be challenged. It can be truly
charged that some segments of the labor movement have ignored
the established policies of the AFL. the CIO, and later the AFL~CIO.

Mr. Cerrer. That is a very candid statement.

Mr. Meany. Well, it is true. We have said so ourselves, before
Congress and elsewhere. We have pleaded for legislative help to
translate principle into practice. But until very recently, there has
been very little disposition on the part of the Congress, or the country
as a whole, to provide that help.

Obviously this is no longer the case. And I thiik all of us must
acknowledge that the change has taken place because the Negroes are
no longer willing to wait for the white majority, in its own good time,
to do what is right. I do not offer a blanket endorsement of every
Negro demonstration, every sit-in or every picket line. .

Mr. Crrrer. Let me interrupt there, Mr. Meany. I think you are
a little unfair to Congress and more particularly this Judiciary Com-
mittee as we labored long——

Mr. Meaxy. We have been asking for a FEPC law for a long time.

Mr. CeLier. We did adopt the civil rights bill in 1957, in con-
nection with education. We did adopt the the Civil Rights Act in
1960, with reference to voting and this committee has been vigilant,
go that T would like the record to make that clear.

Mr. Meany. Well, I am speaking of the Congress as a whole and
I think that the statement that T make can be justified by the record.

Mr. Ceouer. But you must remember that FEPC is not within the
jurisdiction of this committee. That is another committee.

Mr. McCoLrocH. I would like to comment at this time and place.
T can say this for the chairman. He has been a militant fighter for
civil rights for many years, even before I came to Congress and that
has been some 15 years ago.

Looking particularly to the timetable this year, the chairman in-
troduced H.R. 1768 in this field on January 14, 1963. I introduced a
rather comprehensive civil rights bill on January 31, and was joined
by a number of my colleagues and that legislation was supplemented
again later. ‘

The chairman started the hearings on civil rights on May 8, this
year. We were ready, willing, and anxious to proceed with hearings.
There were postponements, not brought by us, and we have been try-
ing to move rapidly in this field. Not only from the times mentioned
by the chairman but this year. I regret to say even as late as yester-
day when T last checked, the reports from the departments, which we
asked for weeks ago—in April I am advised—are not yet before this
committee. I am very jealous of the rights of the legislative branch
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of Government and for that reason I take this time to' say just what I
have said. L . .

Mr. Meany. I, of course, am. not, criticizing this committee and cer-
tainly not criticizing the chairman of the committee, whom I have
known for many years. I am in complete agreement. There has
never been any question where Mr. Celler has stood on civil rights.
However, what I said I think istrue. There has been very little dis-
position on the part of Congress as a whole, and I think the record
bears that out. What I am trying-to point out is that there hasbeen a
change, and T think we must acknowledge that the change has taken
place because the Negroes are no longer willing to wait for the white
majority, in its own good time, to do what is right. I do not offer a
blanket endorsement of every Negro demonstration, every sit-in or
every picket line. .

Mr. CeLrer. Would you approve of a so-called march on Washing-
ton at the end of August? »

Mr. Meany. Well, I certainly believe that these people have a right
to march on Washington. If you are asking me is it wise from
a legislative point of view, I.would question it.

Mr. Cerrer. I am glad to hear you say that because I don’t know
what vote will be changed. ' It certainly won’t change the vote from
the Members from the South. It won’t change my vote. It won’t
change the vote of the Members from the northern cities, but you may
change your votes to the disadvantage of the Negro people with refer-
ence to those who come-from the midcontinental area, the Western
States. They don’t want to be pressurized, bludgeoned, and coerced
into actions. I do know of a number of cases where Members have
stated in both Houses that if there is such a march on Washington,
while they now would vote for a. civil rights bill that march would
cause them to change their minds and vote against it, so I serve warn-
ing upon the colored people in particular and their leaders with the
hope that their best counsel will prevail and they will not make a
march on Washington because that is bound to involve an incident
that we certainly will regret.

Mr. MoCuorrocH. Mr. Chairman, I would like to join with you in
that statement and add my own statement, that I earnestly call upon
leaders in this country in every field of activity and particularly the
responsible labor figures to call upon their members to use proper
caution in this field. Of course, people have the right to peacefully
assemble, but legislation by pressure, in the long run, cannot be good.

Mr. Meany. Well, I want to make it quite clear that this is a judg-
ment of the leaders of the Negro organizations. I want to make it
quite clear that I feel they have a right to march on Washington, if
that is what they want to do, but I again repeat that I question whether
it will help in the legislative field.

But it is beyond question that the organized militancy of the Negroes
has forced their plight to the active attention .of the Nation.

Fortunately, there was 2 quick response. President Kennedy’s firm
and eloquent address on June 11 stirred the Nation’s conscience. It
has inspired other men of good will to speak out. The overwhelming
national consensus in support of equal rights is now becoming visible
and is asserting itself at last.
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We have been glad to note that the President has by no means let
the matter rést. He ha§ called to the White House the leaders of
many groups, including businessmen, union officials, women, lawyers,
Negro spokesmen, and the clergy. He has brought together the con-
gressional léaders of both parties. And he has submitted to Congress
a program part of which you are now considering.

_As a result, the American people have begun to grasp the fact that
civil rights is not a matter for abstract debate but an immediate crisis.
This realization has come none too soon. TFor the proposals I am about
to discuss are urgent, not because we say so, but because the course of
history demands their enactment. .. i

‘We are not offering a blueprint for the future—# program that can
be mulled over and then set aside, or one that can be delayed by end-
less debate over technicalities. The mulling over has been going on
for two decades; indeed, in the broader sense it has been going on
for more than a century. What we are discussing here today is a pro-
gram for the here and now, for this year, for this session of Congress.
. In the hope of simplifying the work of the committee, I will offer
the AFL—~CIO position within the context of the administration bill,
title by title. Where other legislative proposals are-also involved, I
will discuss them in connection with the corresponding section ‘of the
basie bill. ~

TITLE —VOTING RIGHTS

This ought to be the least controversial issue before the committee,
and therefore I will deal with it briefly. ’

Surely there is no possible argument against the proposition that
every American citizen, unless he is demonstrably an incompetent, has
the right to vote. This has nothing to do with integration as such.
It is simply a recognition of basic democratic principles, the principles
that are the very foundation of our country.

A citizen who is denied the right to vote is not a citizen at all. And
a nation which extends the franchise to some citizens but denies
it to others, solely on artificial grounds such as race, is not truly
democratic. .

Yet this is what happens in many southern communities. The right
to vote is denied to Negroes through the use of transnavently fraudu-
lent “qualifications” for those seeking to register. The 85th Congress
recognized this fact and enacted legislation intended to meet it. Ex-
perience has shown that this legislation must be strengthened.

A major device now employed to bar Negroes from the polls is the
so-called literacy test. There is not. the slightest donbt that such tests
have been the pretext under which highly educated Negroes have been
disqualified, whilé all whites—including the semiliterate—have been
duly accepted. This is a matter of record, documented in the Civil
Rights Commission Report of 1961 and further elaborated in congres-
sional hearings the following year.

‘We do not quarrel with the proposition that a voter should be lit-
erate. But tests should be reasonable, and above all should be equally
applied. We have long agreed with the standard which was earlier
proposed by the President, that the completion of the sixth grade in
school is in 1tself an adequate qualification. .




CIVIL RIGHTS 1769

In our view, a given period of formal schooling—and we believe
sixth grade serves the purpose—should be decisive rather than pre-
sumptive proof of literacy. We are frankly dismayed that this year’s
administration proposal, as well. as title IV of the Republican civil
rights bill, H.R. 3139, retreats from that position. Both give only a
presumption -of literacy to those who have completed sixth grade,
allowing for rebuttal evidence.

Such a conmipromise would destroy the purpose of the bill. Inter-
minable challenges would delay indefinitely the registration of quali-
fied Negroes. These challenges would have to be fought out one by
one, voter by voter. Because the outcome would be determined by
impartial Federal courts, the battles might ultimately be won. But
“ultimately” is the wrong way to meet an immediate need.

Throughout this testimony, in the hope of expediting congressional
action, we have held to the barest minimum our criticisms of the ad-
ministration program. But the proposals relating to voting rightsare
so inadequate, and in some respects so contradictory, that we urge the
committee to rewrite them.

Mr. McCurrocn. I am pleased to say for the record, again, that
Ohio, the State from which I come, has no literacy test v%ﬁatsoever.
In the.hearings before this committee last year when the Attorney
General and others were testifying, I made that statement for the
record. I stated that I thought no harm had been done in Ohio with-
out literacy tests. As a matter of fact, we are of the opinion that
people who are the proper age and are not under restraint should have
the right to vote. I was dissuaded from putting it into the bill which
I introduced on January 31 by reason: of the fact that I came to the
conclusion that I had better direct my energies to the possible, and I
hope probable, rather than to the impossible. It seems to me that
there are great numbers of Members of Congress who felt the same
way. 1 would be glad to repair to that fine legislation in this field
which my native State has.

Mr. Meany. Thankyou.

Aside from voter qualifications, we commend to your favorable
attention a provision in title I of H.R. 3139. It directs the Bureau
of the Census to compile nationwide registrations and voting sta-
tisties, from January 1, 1960, to date, which would show what pro-
porticn of the potential voters in each, State actually registered and
went to the polls, according to race, color, and national origin.

Mr. Cerrer. The Congressional Quarterly has made a study of all
the T.S. counties in which fewer than 15 percent of the Negro areas
are registered to vote. They come up with these striking figures.
The States with the highest ratio, with fewer than 15 percent voting
age Negroes registered are: Mississippi, where they have 76 of their
82 counties where 15 percent or less of the Negroes are on the com-
mittee to register; South Carolina, 26 out of 46 counties; Alabama,
33 of the 67 counties; Louisiana, 23 of the 64; Georgia, 36 of the 159;
Virginia, with 18 of the 97; Texas, 22 of the 254. Secattered counties
with similarly low Negro registration are located in Arkansas, Florida,
Tennessee, and North Carolina.
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That indicates how iwidespread is the denial of those qualified
Negroesin those States.

I would like to ask a question again. The bill—administration
bill which I offered—speaks of completion of the sixth grade in public
school or a private school accredited by any State or territory or the
District of Columbia, Where instruction is carried on predominantly
in the English language.

What 15 your comment on “predominantly carry on the English
language”? T ask that literally because we have a great many in New
York who are Puerto Ricans who are literate in the sense that they
understand things and can make distinctions between candidates and
issues but cannot speak the English language.

‘What shall we do with.respective voters of that sort?

Mr. Meany. I think there is a constitutional question that might
be involved there. I don’t know whether this could be used as a
device to keep people from voting or not. I think there is a consti-
tutional question about teaching in another language and I don’t
know enough about it.

Mr. Cerrer. Well, in Ohio there is no language test.

Mr. McCuorrocH. Nolanguage test?

Mzy. Cramer. Mr. Chairman——

Mr. Meany. Mr. Harris would like to say a word on that, our
counsel.

Mr. Hagris. As I am sure you know, some of the bills in prior years
were meant to apply this sixth-grade education standard to people
who were educated 1n Spanish, as well as in English.

I think, however, that there is a very grave constitutional doubt
whether the Federal Government, acting under the 13th or 14th
amendment could invalidate State legislation requiring education in
the English language.

There was a good deal of discussion of that a year or two ago when
the proposal was up, and I think that was dropped because of doubts
as to its constitutionality.

Mr. Cramer. Another example is Ybor City, previously in my dis-
triet, in which I would say at least 30 percént of the people in that area
speak Spanish and do not speak English and have been educated in

panish-speaking schools.

Mr. Linpsay. That is an example where those people would be dis-
qualified for voting under this provision ; would they not?

Mr. Harris. No. If the State wished to permit them to vote, that
certainly would be up to the State. All that this would say would be
that if a person had a sixth-grade education in English that that
would presumptively satisfy any literacy requirement but there is
nothing in this that would require the State to use the literacy require-
ment or say that the State couldn’t be satisfied if people were literate
in Spanish.

You see the constitutional problem is this: The sixth-grade pre-
sumpton can most, easily be upheld under the 15th amendment, which
provides that the right to vote shall not be abridged by the United
States or any State on account of color, condition of servitude.

Section 2 provides that the Congress have authority to enforce this
article by appropriate legislation.
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In the case of people who are Negroes, experience shows that these
literacy tests are being used as a dodge for depriving people of the
right to vote because of the color of their skins; so that there is a quite
clear constitutional basis under the 15th amendment for making sixth-
grade education a basis for either conclusively or presumgtively estab-
Iishing literacy. But that hardly ai)qlies, the 15th amendment hardly
applies where it is a problem of people being disqualified because they
are educated in Spanish rather than English. Soto sustain a provision
that people who have 6 years of education in Spanish shall be pre-
sumed literate, you would have to go to the 14th amendment. And
there you would have to rest on the assertion that a State denial of
the right to vote to those people violates the equal-protection clause of
the 14th amendment and that Congress, acting under section 5 of that
amendment, can override that denial. That is a pretty hard argu-
ment to make, and I think it was in recognition of that that both.of
the major bills this year backed away from any attenipt to knock out
State disqualification of people who are not educated in English, but
if the State wants to let them vote, they do. You say they vote. in
Florida. I am sure they do in New Mexico, too. There is absolutely
nothing in any of these bills that would interfere with the State legisla-
tion permitting them to vote. , '

Mr. Cramer. What is your recommendation, if any, to be done with
regard to the definition on page 5 which presumes that a person is not
judged illiterate who has completed the sixth grade of school where
the instruction is done predeminantly in English langnage ?

Mr. Harris. We would think that you should leave the reference
to the English language alone. :

Mr. Mraxy. We think that the qualification of sixth grade should
be decisive rather than presumptive.

Mr. Cramer. That still doesn’t deal with the question of what a
sixth-grade schooling means. Does it mean education in a private or
public school accredited where instruction is carried on predominantly
in English? That is the question now. I understand presumptions,
but we are talking about how you define a sixth-grade education.

Mr. Harris. V&; think that the requirement that the instructions
should be carried on in FEnglish should be left in the bill because we
think it is constitutionally necessary.

Mr. Cramer. You don’t think that that would exclude those edu-
cated predominantly in Spanish ¢ .

Mr. Haress. The States would be permitted to dallow them to vote
but would not be required by Federal legislation to allow them to
vote under this language.

Mr. Meany. The States could still bargain. The instruction is in
that language rather neatly. -

Mr. Craner. The States could bargain but could they permit it ?

Mr. Meany. They could permit it, too. '

Mr. Cramer. I don’t know whether I agree with thator not.

Mr. Cerier. I would like to get, Mr. Harris, your views on whether
or not, under this statement that could permit Puerto Ricans or some-
body in Florida who-speaks Spanish and who has finished sixth grade
of school to vote ?

Mr. Meany. Definitely.
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Mr. Harris. Yes. This simply says that the States cannot go be-
yond this in imposing restrictions on the right to vote.

The State can enforce universal suffrage, as far as that goes.

Mr. Cerrer. Your view is if we pass ﬁﬁs bill, a State could nonthe-
less adopt a provision—for example, use the example of my State—
%emll'i;i 13;uert-o Ricans to vote whether they cannot speak or understand

nglish ?

Mr. Meany. This would not interfere with the Ohio law that Mr.
McCulloch referred to.

Mr. Corenuaver. By reading the language there “predominantly
English language” could it not be interpreted as to deny a presump-
tion under this law to people who speak predominantly Spanish
or are taught in Spanish—spele){ing schoogs? ren’t we denying a pre-
'suﬁgtion to those peolile ?

. Meany. It would permit the State to deny it.

Mr. Harris. Yes, that is true.

Mr. CopEnuaver. Wouldn’t it be best to consider the removal of the
words, with the court upholding the lawfulness along the lines you
have discussed ¢ ,
" Mr. Haggis. I think it would be very hard to maintain the con-
stitutionality of a Federal statute which undertook to knock out a
State restriction which required 6 years of education in English.

. If the State law required 6 years of education in English and there
were a Federal law that undertook to invalidate that, I think it would
be very hard to sustain the constitutionality of the Federal law. The
simple reason is that the clearest basis for the legislation is the 15th
amendment, and it quite plainly has nothing to do with.that situation.
Mr. CeLrar. Let me get this clear. )
You answered my question by saying that even if we pass this lan-
age, New York could permit a Puerto Rican who doesn’t understand
nglish, can’t speak English, to vote.

ow, he would have to have gone to a school where English is the
predominant language. .

Mr. Meany. No. The purpose of this it to prevent the State from
going further in restrictions. In other words, if the Stdte wants to
open it up wide, this wouldn’t interfere at all.

Mr. Harrs. If the State doesn’t want to put any restrictions on vot-
ing, this bill doesn’t say it has to.

r. CELiEr. But you lay down the edict that in order to vote, he
has to go——

Mr. Meany. We don’t lay down any such edict. We are saying the
States should not go further than this.

Mr. Harris. This says that this is the maximum requirement, that
the State can prescribe.

Mr. Meany. If the State doesn’t want this requirement, thers is
nothing to stop them from removing all requirements.

Mr. Forey. Where a State has a literacy requirement to read
and write English such as in the State of New Ygork, they tested it
in the-courts of New York and it has been upheld. There was a drive
put on to repeal that. It failed. It is going to be renewed this time
to have'the legislature repeal that English-speaking requirement.

If they do that, that is no problem of this language?

Mr. Harris. No. None at all.

:
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Mr. Meaxy. This whole bill is directed at the idea of saying to the
States, “You cannot impose restrictions that are more stringent than
those in the bill.” )

Mr. McCorroca. And it is my understanding, Mr. Meany, that you
are not advocating any test by States that do not have any tests now?

Mr. Meaxy. That is right.

Mr. McCurroca. It isyour opinion and the opinion of your advisers
that are with you at the witness table today that this section of the
Celler bill would not affect State legislation such as Ohio has?

Mr. Mzany. It would not.

Mr. Cramer. May I ask one more question along that same line,
which I think involves a similar principle and that is, whether the
proposed legislation would prevent people who could otherwise vote
under present State laws from voting in the future. On page 4 of
the bill, it states that no person shall employ a literacy test as a quali-
fication for voting in a Federal election unless such test is adminis-
tered to individuals in writing.

It is my understanding—and I am attempting to get a study made
of it—that there are’ many people today who vote but who cannot
write. What happens to those people in the future under those tests?

Mr. Hagris. Nothing at all. It doesn’t say that the State must
use the literaey test.

Mr. Meany. If the State test goes beyond the limits set here,-then
the Federal law would prevail. . ’

Mr. Cramer. That is the point I am getting at. In a State where
you have a literacy test, obviously this 1s the only instance in which
this would apply.

Mr. Mzawy. Yes.

Mr. Cramer. In those States where you have a literacy test, some
of those States do not require a person to be able to write in order
to be literate.

Mr. Meany. This wouldn’t affect them at all.

Mr. Cramer. I would like your reasoning on that, because it ap-
pears to me that it obviously does require each test to be administered
to each individual wholly in writing. Now, if that individual doesn’t
write, then he can’t vote 1 2 Federal election.

It is obvious that that is the infention.

Mr. Hagris. The State could drop its literacy test if it wanted to.
It could abolish it.

Mr. Cramer. But that doesn’t help the fellow that doesn’ write
if the State retains its literacy test.

Mzr. Harris. If what you are suggesting is that some States with
literacy tests have permitted white people who can’t read or write to
vote, I think that is true.

I think that this legislation would interfere with that. What has
been going on is that white people who are illiterate are passed on
the test while colored people, even those with a college degree, are
sometimes failed.

That, of course, is the reason for this provision that the test must
be administered in writing.

I think you are right, that this would interfere with the practice
of having a literacy test on the books which is 1ot applied to whites.

Mr. Cramer. That is not the question. I understand that that is
the objective, but it is not the question.

25-144 O-63—pt. 3—2
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The question is, in those States where you have literacy tests, where
Negroes or whites—it has nothing to do with preferential treatment
of whites whe don’t write, who sign an X, who go into the booth with
a helper who reads the names on the voting machines or has someone
to read to them the ballot. That happens constantly in America,
Negroes and whites.

Mr. Meany. The bills would not touch them. Those State laws
would stand.

Mr. Cramzr. If the objective of this is to purposely set up a test
for writing in a literacy——

Mr. Harris. If the State chooses to have a literacy test at all, in
the situation that you deseribe where they have a literacy test on the
books but don’t enforce it, it is perfectly open to them to drop the test.

Mr. Cramer. That is not the point.

In other words, you are saying that in a State where they have
literacy tests and where under those literacy tests a person who doesn’t
write is permitted to vote, in the future under this bill they can permit
those people to continue to vote only by repealing the literacy test—

Mr. Hariis. Right.

Mr. Cramer. We would force the States to repeal the entire literacy
test in order to accomplish this objective.

Mr. Meany. Orlimit it to sixth-grade qualifications.

Mzr. Harris. Either to repeal it or administer it in writing. They
could no longer have these oral examinations at which they flunked
the Negroes and passed the whites.

Mr. Cramer. I understand that. The committee is sympathetic—

Mr. Meany. If our proposal is adopted, you have no problem.

Mr. Craxer. Let’s assume that the committee is sympathetic to the
objective of not having discriminatory examinations in States that
have literacy tests, but let’s assume you have a Negro and a white, both
of whom ean’t write and both of whom today can vote under the exist-
ing literacy test. This test written into this bill would deny both of
them, the Negro and the white, the right to vote, would it not, unless
the State repealed its literacy test?

Mr. Harris. That is right. I am not aware of this situation where
the State has a literacy test law on the books, but generally permits
the Negro to vote anyway. I am well aware of its happening in the
%se of whites, but 1 am not aware of it happening in the case of

egroes.

Mr. Cramer. I don’t think that the Congress should pass a bill
that would deprive either whites or Negroes of the right to vote.
That is my position.

Mr. Harris. You are talking about a situation where a State has a
literacy test on the books, but you are saying that it doesn’t really
enforce or apply.

. CramER. No; I am not.

Mr. Harris. If that is the case, the State’s remedy is clear; it can
simply repeal the law. .

Mr. CramEer. And this would require them to do so to permit peo-
ple who can’t write to continue to vote.

- Mr. Corman. Will'you yield for a question ?

Mr. Cramer. Yes.

1; Mr. Corman. Will you tell me the States that set up a literacy test
ut——
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Mr. Cramer. I suggested at the outset that a study is being made on
my request at the present time as to whether by practice or permission
of the law itself a person who doesn’t write is permitted to vote in
States that have literacy tests. There is no question that there are
millions of people.in this country who cannot write and who do vote.

Mr. Mrany. As I see our proposal, we are saying that a sixth-grade
education should be decisive.

In other words, all you would have to do would be to prove that the

erson had a sixth-grade education, not as a presumption, but as a
%nal decision. This, of course, would take care of the problem.

Mr. Cramer. What if the person isblind? What happens to them ?

Mr. Meany. A person who is blind could still have a sixth-grade
education. /

Mr. Craxer. But the examination has to be in writing.

Mr. Meany. Noj;not under our proposal.

Mr. Cramer. I am talking about the bill before us, recommended
by the administration.

Mr. Meaxy. I am taking the position that neither the administra-
tion bill nor the Republican-introduced bill covers this situation ade-
quately. Thatis what I am testifying.

Mr. Cramer. And I think your testimony, and that of counsel with
you, is most helpful to us in clarifying what these respective bills do
contain.

Therefore, I am asking your opinion as to whether or not the literacy
test requiring writing for a blind person in a State that has a literacy
test under the wording in the bill would prevent that person from
voting because he doesn’t write.

Mr. Rogers. Ordinarily in those States dealing with the blind or
disabled there are’special sectionsto take eare of them.

Mr. Cramer. The proposal says that any test administered to any-
body who votes in that State that has a literacy test must be in writing,
with no exceptions.

Mr. Meany. I am testifying to the effect that I don’t agree with
that. What I am saying is that the given period of formal schooling,
we believe the sixth grade, serves the purpose and should be decisive,
rather than presumptive, proof. That is what I said a few minutes
ago.

‘What you are really doing is, I would say that you are lending
weight to my argument that there should not be a presumptive sixth-
grade education, it should be decisive.

Mr. McCurrocH. I think the gentleman from Florida has raised:
an important question and of course, Mr. Meany, we havethe nesessity
in this committee of assessing the bills .as they are written and per-
fecting them as much as we can.

I certainly agree with the analysis of my colleague from Florida.
If we do not wish to unintentionally bar the type of person he de-
scribed from voting, we must write some exception in here to the
general effect that such an individual may be exempted from. such
test in writing, otherwise he will be disenfanchized by this legislation
wherever there is a literacy test in the United States.

Mr. Cerier. In my State, if a man can’t write for reasons beyond
his own control, he may have met with an accident, he may be para-
plegic, we have special exemptions. _

Mr. Meany. Under my proposal that would present no problem.
He would be entitled to vote.
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" Mr. Cerxer. Suppose you go on with your statement.

Mr. Cramer. But under this bill he would be denied the right to
vote if he couldn’t write for any reason. ;

Mr. Mrany. Yes; under the Republican bill and the administra-
tion statute.

Presumably this information might be used to enforce section 2 of
the 14th amendment. That would be all to the good; we support
Congressman Stratton’s bill intended to achieve the same result. In
addition, such a survey would elicit much valuable information on
registration and voting patterns everywhere in America.

Mr. Cerrer. You WOulg deny representation for the votes if they
happen to be Negroes? You deny representation?

Mr. Meany. Yes.

Mr. CerLier. You get yourself into a thicket there. How would
you do that, for example?

Mr. Meany. How would we do what ?

Mr. Cerier. How would you deny the representation to Southern
States that are guilty of this disecrimination? How would you go
about it?

Mr. Meany. That would be up to the law enforcement agencies.

Mr. Hargris. The Congress could simply base the allocation of
Representatives on the percentage of people voting in the State,
rather than on the population. . -

Mr. Cramer. What would youn do in a situation like the State of
Florida and many other places where you have in a number of counties
more people voting than there are over age 21 in the whole county ?
There. are 14 such counties in Florida, according to a Congressional
Quarterly study. I think it might be well to place it in the record..

(The information is as follows:)

Totsl popu- | Total regis- Number
lation of tered voters excass Percentage

voting age
Calhoun 4,016 4,879 663 17
Dixle. 2, 501 2,700 208 108
Gilchrist. 1,667 1,721 54 n3 -
Holmes '6,380 6,810 430 107
Lafayette 1,688 1,851 163 110
Liberty. 1,765 1,068 203 m

Additional counties of very high registration are Flagler, Jefferson, Madison,
Taylor, and Washington. In addition, registration exceeded totdl population
(all races) in these counties:

Florida
‘White popu-| White reais-| Number,
lation of tered voters excess Percentage
voting age
Calhoun._ A 3,434 4,302 868 125
Dixle _ 2,138 2, 519 asi 118
Franklin 3,186 3, 264 78 162
Gilchrist . __. ) 1,513 1,660 147 110
Hamilton. 2,486 2, 540 54 102
Holmes 6,131 6, 660 529 109
Lafayette._ 1, 536 1,849 313 120
Liberty- . 1,525 1,967 442 JoR
Swannee..__.. 6,409 6,717 308 | 105
‘Wakulla___ 2.120 2,219 | 09 105
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Mr. Craymer. In Chicago.-there are more people who vote than thera
are over 21, and that includes the tombstones.

Mr. Crrrer, Not in New York.

Mr. Meaxy. No, not in New York.

Mr. Cerier. Go ahead.

Mr. Meany. The President, in the bill before you, has outlined
enforcement procedures for insuring the right to vote which are
superior to the long and involved remedies now available. We are
glad he has recognized the need for prompt handling of complaints
by the Federal courts and court-appointed referses. .

We would have preferred authdrization of Federal registrars in
areas where. the abuses are flagrant—as we have repeatedly said. But
for the time being, at least, we are willing to go along with the Presi-
<lent’s alternative. The question ecan be reexamined on the basis of
results, just as the work of the 85th Congress is being reexamined now.

It should be noted, in that connection that voting rights were once
widely considered to be the one sure remedy for racial discrimination
of every kind. It is now clear that this is not true. The evil of dis-
crimination persists even where voting rights are unimpaired. .

I make this point in order to emphasize that the proposals now
hefore Congress, even if adopted in their entirety, are not necessarily
final. The fight for truly equal rights must go on until it is finally
and totally won. .

TITLE TI—PUBLIC ACCOMMODATIONS

In contrast to the previous title, this one, of course, is the most ex-
plosive. It generates the most heat on both sides. From a long-range
point of view, it may not be the most important. But time has run
out on lengrun solutions, so it must be faced, and faced boldly.

It has been charged that this section of the administration bill would
extend the control of the Federal Government to every store, restau-
rant, barber shop, and beauty parlor in America. It is alleged that
this would destroy the sacred American right of freedom of associa-
tion, and would deny to merchants their right to decide with whom
they would do business.

There will undoubtedly be much oratory to this effect in the weeks
ahead. Yet it seems to me that this is all irrelevant; and some of it
is plain nonsense.

When a man goes into a business that invites and depends upon

ublic patronage, he has already given up, voluntarily, a part of
his freedom to do as he pleases. He has set up a public place and
invited the public to spend money there. By so doing, in nearly all
communities, he has also subjected himself to regulations as to fire
hazards, other safety and health problems, workmen’s compensation,
weights and measures, opening and closing hours—a whole range
of local, State, and Federal statutes, all based upon the established
principle of protecting the public from dangerous or undesirable
‘practices by those who operate public places.

The President now asi)rs a Federal law to make it clear that a public
business must in fact be open to the public—all of the public. Surely
this is no more an intrusion on the rights of a merchant than any of
the other matters I have mentioned.
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The merchant still has a full opportunity to protect himself. Cer-
tainly he has a right to expect his customers to be able to pay their
bills. Certainly he has a right to insist upon orderly conduct and
proper dress. He can impose whatever standards he chooses—as long
as they are equally applied, without regard to race, creed, or national
origin.

I%:)es he want men to wear jackéts and neckties? Does he want to
rule out Bermuda shorts, or bar women in slacks? Fine; that’s up to
him—as long as the rules are uniformly enforced on all customers, all
members of the public.

Actually, experience in many State and municipalities, and in the
facilities controlled by the Federal Government, has proved that
the fears of merchants, and of the segregationist spokesmen, have
no factual basis.

As recently as 1946 and 1947, in my own home area, New York
City, a Negro could not be sure what sort of reception he would re-
ceive in a restaurant or at a Iunch counter. He was not likely to be
turned away, but there was a good chance that he would be ignored,
badly served, or otherwise made to realize that he was not welcome.
And this was in the Nation’s most cosmopolitan city, known the world
over for its diversity of population.

Within a few years all this was forgotten. Ob, I suppose there may
be a few establishments in New York where Negro patrons are still
regarded with hostility; you can find almost anything in a city of
8 million people. But for more than a decade, Negroes have been
accepted in eating places—as they had long been accepted in retail
stores and other-places of public accommodation—on exactly the same
basis as whites. )

Mr. McCurrocH. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask this question
at this point: Did this change come about in New York by statutory
enactment in the State of New York or by reason of——

er. Mzeawny. I think the statutory enactment was the major cause
of 1t.

It was stated in the FEPC law in 1947—1946 or 1947.

Mr. McCurrocr. But did that have this immediate effect upon ac-
ceptance of patrons? -

Mr. Meany. Ihad an effect—I can testify personally to this—it had
an effect in the retail and department stores practically over night.
People were saying “If this law goes into effect, it will put us out
of business.” This was being talked about all over the city.

The law went into effect and within 30 days there was no more
comment.

Mr. McCurroca. The reason, Mr. Chairman, that I asked that
question—and again I refer to my home State of Qhio which has
been a pioneer in so many good things—because as long ago as 75
years, as I recall, the legislature in Ohio first enacted public accom-
modations laws and I would like to read two paragraphs of the law
in Ohio which has been in part on the statute books all of these
years. I quote section 2901.35 of the revised code of the State of
Ohio: . ‘

No proprietor or his employee, keeper, or manager: of an inn, restaurant, eating
house, barbershop, public convenience by air, land, or water, theaters, stores

or other place for the sale of merchandise or any other place, of public accom-
modation or amusement shall deny to a citizen, except for reasons applicable
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alike to all citizens, and regardless of color or race, the full enjoyment of the
accommodations, advantages, facilities, or privileges thereof and no person shall
incite the denial thereof.

The next paragraph of that statute is particularly significant to me.

‘Whoever violates this section shall be fined not less than $15 nor more than
$500 or imprisonment not less than 30 nor more than 90 days or both, and shall
pay not less tham $50 nor more than $500 to the person aggrieved, thereby it could
be recovered in any court in the county where the violation was committed.

That is the end of that section of the revised code of Ohio.

Mr. Meany. Getting back to the eating places in New Yerk, for
more than a decade Negroes have been accepted in eating places—as
they had long been accepted in retdil stores and other places of public
accommodation—on exactly the same basis as whites.

And do you know what has happened detrimental to the interests of
the restaurants and lunch counters? Nothing. Absolutely nothing.
New York still has some of the finest restaurants in the world—and, I
suppose, some of the worst. But they are no better and no worse than
they were before.

I have deliberately offered this part of our case in practical terms,
rather than as appeal for fairplay, because I am aware that many
businessmen in Southern States have dollars-and-cents concern about.
a public accommodations law. Their whole livelihood may depend
upon the prosperity of their establishments. No matter what their
personal sentiments may be, they are afraid that Negro patronage will
lead to economic disaster.

But we are completely convinced that a uniform Federal law,

uniformly obeyed, will not impose a burden upon any public estab-
lishment. Fears to the contrary have no basis in fact or experience.
. Now let me refer briefly to the hard-core segregationists who argue
that they simply do not want to do business with Negroes, and who
defend this position on the grounds of “freedom of association™ and
“freedom of choice” as to those they will accept as customers. With
them I have no sympathy. .

The Negro ought to be, and in fact is, as much a part of the “public®
as anyone else. I repeat, 2 man who sets up a place of public accom-
modation has, by that action voluntarily surrendered one segment of
is right of “freedom of association.”

During business hours, within the framework of whatever uniforin
and equally applied rules he may devise, he must “associate™ with
whatever members of the public choose to patronize his establishment.
If he cannot acecept this requirement, he should stop pretending to
run a public plade, and go into some other occunation.

A man who does not want to “associate” with certain parts of the
public should not cater to the public. Subject to reasonable, uniform
standards, he has to take the public as it comes. If he diseriminates
on the basis of race alone, he is in conflict with the public policv of the
United States. He has a very simple choice—to comply with that
policy or go out of business.

. In presenting this point on a pragmatic basis, I do not in anv way
mtend to brush aside its moral and humdn aspects. The rebuffs suf-
fered by Negroes in places of public accommodation have been high-
lighted in most of thé demonstrations in southern cities. For it is true
that while a man may be poor, while he may have been denied a fair



https://asjJec.tR

1780 ‘CIVIL RIGHTS

chance to get an education, while he may live in a shack or a tenement,
the open, public, and unashamed insult of denial of service—service
that is available to others, regardless of their character, as long as
they are white—is the last straw.

Here the Negro is told to his face that he iz not like other men—
no matter what he may be in himself. This is an ineredible and intol-
erable state of affairs in any civilized society, and it cannot be allowed
to continue.

‘We urge you to erase this blot from our record as a Nation by adopt-
ing the administration’s proposals.

Title ITIT—Public education :

Nine years ago the Supreme Court recognized that segregation, in
itself, is a barrier to equal education. The AFL-CIQO wholeheartedly
agrees. Yet segregation in education is still an ugly fact.

The effects are exactly what the Court had in mind. For as we
move into the area of equal employment opportunity-—which I will
discuss later—we find innumerable employers who say something
like this:

“I don’t discriminate, but there are no qualified Negroes available.”

At a later time, under the discussion of title VII, I will discuss those
instances in which this is a mere pretext. But it is not always a
pretext. Sometimes it isthe plain truth.

The most important single reason why it is sometimes true is that
Negroes, as a whole, simply do not have equal educational oppor-
tunities.

They do not have equal educational opportunities in many parts of
the country—North as well as South—Dbecause they are consigned to
segregated schools.

A few weeks ago, the exercise of Federal power made it possible
for newsmen to report that they were integrated schools, of some sort
at some level, in every State in the Union. We were not impressed.

Yes, this represented progress of a sort. But it was the kind of
progress that the Negro community, a tenth of the Nation, properly
seorns. '

The statistics are familiar and have been adequatelv presented by
other witnesses. I will only say that you know, Mr.-Chairman, that
the public schools in the South have not been desegregated in fact;
and that a large measure of segregation, intentional or not, still pre-
vailsin the North.

Mr. Cerrer. May I at that point read some figures 'which I got out
of the news report concerning the situation in the South. The head-
ing is “Under Court Pressure.”

In the State of Alabama Negro enrollment is 280,000. Negro enrollment with
whites, none. Percentage of Negroes in schools with whites, none.

Arkansas, Negro enrollment 109,000. Negroes in school with
whites, 250. Percentage of Negroes in school with whites, 0.25 per-
cent and one-quarter of 1 percent.

In Florida, Negro enrollment 219,000. Negroes in school with
whites, 1,168. Percentage of Negroes in schools with whites in 0.53

ercent.
P Georgia, 325,000 Negro enrollment, Negroes in school with whites,
44, The percentage of Negroes in school with whites, 0.01 percent.
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Louisiana, Negro enrollment, 297,000. Negroes in school with
whites, 107.  Percentage of Negroes in school with whites 0.04.

Mississippi, Negro enrollment, -288,000. Negroes in school with
whites, none. Percentage of Negroes In school with whites, none.

North Carolina, 340,000 Negro enrollment. Negroes in school with
whites, 901. Percentage of Negroes in school with whites, 0.27.

South Carolina, 250,000 Negro enrollment. Negroes in school with
whites, none. Percentage of Negroes in school with whites, none.

Tennessee, 161,000 Negro enrollment. Negroes in school with whites,
1,817. Percentage of Negroes in school with whites, 1.18.

Texas, 310,000Wegroes. In school with whites, 6,/00. Percentage
of Negroes in school with whites, 2.16.

Virginia, Negro enrollment 221,000. Negroes in school with whites,
1,230. Percentage of Negroes in school with whites, 0.56. :

Four-tenths of 1 percent of eligible Negro students attend schools
with whites in 11 States in the old Confederacy.

I thought it would be well to put that statement in the record.

Mr. Meaxy. Getting back to the segregation of schools, my point
is that this is indefensible. It flouts-the findings of the highest gourt
in the land. It must be corrected by Federal legislation.

The President has proposed such legislation. Authorizing the
Attorney General to institute civil action on behalf of the victims of
school segregation is an obvious need. Such suits are beyond the
financial means of most private individuals. And there are places
in this cquntry, shameful though it is, where a Negro could file such
a suit only in the face of inevitable economic reprisals, and at the real
peril of his life.

In this spirit, we have reservations about the requirement that
written complaints must be the basis for action by the Attorney Gen-
eral. It would be more desirable, it seems to us, to empower the
Attorney General to act on his own discretion when the circumstances
warrant it. We object even more vigorously to the parallel provi-
sions of H.R. 8139, which would stay the hand of the Attorney Gen-
eral—and the courts—if a State or school district were making an
elaborate pretense of desegregation.

Mr. McCurrocs. It is my studied judgment that that is not a fair
appraisal of H.R. 3139. In any event that was not the intention of

the drafters. I would like to read to you that part of 8189 to which
you have just referred.
In the first place we say that:

The Attorney General shall have authority to move into these cases after the

(éomplainant has exhausted the remedies available to him under the laws of the
tate.

Let me finish.

Mr. Meany. Which page are you reading from?
. Mr. McCurroca. Four. Paragraph (b)(4) and I am about to' go
into subparagraphs (1) and (2).

* * * the complainant has exhausted the remedies available £o him under the
laws of such State.
. Now while there have been ordinary delays which are regrettable
in this field in some instances, that provision is in accordance with the
best tradition and experience of Federal law drafting.
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Furthermore, section 2 of that entire title says “When the laws of
the State do not provide the complainant with a plain, speedy, and
efficient remedy” and if that first section is used by a State to retard
the speedy and effective remedy, then the Attorney General may move
in under this provision. * I am sure that a wise reader knows that
there have already been handed down some decisions which have
stricken down proposed desegregation plans that were only of a token
nature. )

I would be glad if the witness would reevaluate that part of HLR.
3139, in view of what T have said. :

Mr. Meany. Let me read section {(c); in which you say:

The courts of the United States having jurisdiction of proceedings instituted
under this section shall not enjoin, suspend or restrain any person or persons
named as defendants in such proceeding, if the publie school to which admission
iswought has entered upon a plan to desegregate its facilities with—

This is the section I am referring to.

Mr. McCurrocH. Yes, and I am glad that the witneéss reads that
section, because it uses the very language of the Supreme Court in the
Brown case which most people in America hold is not only the law of
the case but is the law of the land under the facts of the case.

I repeat, we use the very language from the Supreme Court.

Mr. Meany. I repeat that I would prefer that that provision was
not in there because there is the possibility-of delay and procrasti-
nating inthese things and drawing them out.

Mr. McCurrocH. Mr. Chairman, if T might interrupt again. Of
course, I have no brief for delay and for procrastination, but we are,
again, confronted with the possible and not with that which may be
ideal in some of these fields.

Mr. Cerier. I might say that I think as a result of that language in
\the Brown desegregation case, there has been inordinate delays in the
past and a recent decision in an opinion by Mr. Justice Goldberg, he
said ““All deliberate speed’ now means ‘at once, and that there shall
beno further delay’,” that they will brook no further delay. Maybe the
language in the Brown decision has caused that delay.
.McCurroca. Ithankyou for that comment.

Mr. »Er. On this question of title III, relating to suits by the
Attorney Geperal to implement school desegregation, I am sure you
are aware in thag title there is discussed and included under the section
“Racial Imbalance.”

Racial imbalance is mentioned in every paragraph of the section
as one of the things that is to be avoided under this title. As I read
the enforcement section, permitting an individual to bring a suit or
the Attorney General to bring a suit on behalf of the individual under
section 307, it is to the effect that pursuant to a signed complaint that
he or his minor children under a class similarly situated are de-
prived of equal protection -of the law by reason of the school board’s
failure t6 achieve desegregation.

Is it your opinion that “racial imbalance would be one of the con-
ditions raised by the Attorney General with the effect of forcing the
local school board to redraw the school districts in order to have a
greater proportion of Negroes to whites than presently exist?

"~ Mr. Meany. You say this would give ‘the Attorney General the
right to move in cases of racial imbalance?
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Mr. Cramzr. I am asking you if it would. It is my opinion.it would
apply because the testimony we have to date is.that desegregation in-
crudes the question of racial imbalance. .

Mr. Meany. I refer to that, I think, a little bit later in my testi-
mony.

M? Hagrris. If I understand your question, I think the answer is
that that would be an issue in school desegregation suits to the same
extent that it is now. The change that this would make would be to
allow the Attorney General to institute-the suit.

Mr. CramEr. So that the Attorney General could bring a suit on
behalf of a person living in’ a Negro area and state that the student is
still being discriminated against in that there are not, enough whites
to Negroes and ask to have the student transferred to the school next
door where there are more whites than Negroes, or there is a better
balance. The student would have that right through the Attorney
General ; would he not ?

Mr. Harris. I would think so. You would have the same range of
issues in those cases that you have now, in the litigation brought.by
parents.

' Mr. Cramer. Or a greater right if the Attorney General decides to
provide it. Yes. T just wanted to make sure that it was clear on the
record. This right of the Attorney Gerneral to bring a suit includes
not only on the basis of discrimination or segregation, but those in-
stances where the complainant believes that the proportion of Negroes
to whites is still not proper and therefore should be corrected.

Mr. Cerier. As T gage that language, the Attorney General would
have rather broad discretion there. “Imbalance” 1s a very broad
term.

Mr. Cramer. That is what is wrong with it. That is why I mention
it.

Mr. CeLrer. You may quarrel with it, but I think it is essential
to have that language. If the Attorney General brings arbitrary
action, the courts will refuse. If the imbalance is only slight, I don’
think the courts will consider it, but you have to lodge the discretion
somewhere. .

If the imbalance is very severe, I think the Attorney General would
have the right to bring suit. That is the sum and substance. I think
you are riglilt in saying that it does not come under discrimination.

Mr. Cramer. I am not saying that. I have said from the beginning
that I believe there should be-some-definition of what is meant by racial
imbalance somewhere in the bill, so that the Attorney General will
know and the public will know and the school boards involved will
know, as well as the complainants, what their rights are because racial
imbalance as such is apparently whatever the Attorney General or
the Commissioner of Education cares to interpret it to be.

Mr. Cerrer. Go ahead.

Mr. Mrany. The provisions for technical asistance to desegregating
schol districts are not new, but their reiteration is welcome. In that
connection, I call to your attention, with. some pride, a resolution
adopted by the AFL executive council on May 18, 1954—the day
after the Supreme Court’s historic decision.
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The resolution said, in part:

Theimplqmentation of this decision will involve not only broad social adjust-
ments'slggé: tremendous physical expansion of inadequate school facilities in
man, 3

WZ strongly urge the administration and Congress to establish a billion-
dollar fund for loans and grants to the States in urgent need of help to modernize
and democratize their school systems.

This would be-the wisest investment our Government could make in the future
of our couniry. It would be an act of good faith on the part of the Federal
Government in the implementation of the Supreme ‘Court’s decision and the
democratic way of life.

Finally, it would prevent noncompliance with the Supreme Court’s decision
by any State which might otherwise plead poverty to excuse its failure to provide
the‘gecessnry facilities for the integration of its publie school system.

That is the end of the quote from the AFL executive council in the
year 1954.

Now, 9 years later, let us hope that a system of rewards for school
systems that are willing to desegregate will, in combination with the
Attorney General’s new powers, be adequate to meet the need. Cer-
tainly this approach is worth a trial; and the results will be a matter
of record after 2 years, when the Commissioner of Education delivers
the report called for in the bill. )

Moreover, as we read title VI, Federal aid-ean be withheld frome
recalcitrant school districts under other educational measures, even
though these laws do not in themselves make integration a requirement.

Another point is implicit here, as in many sections of this testimony.

‘When we talk about equal opportunity in education, what we mean
is an equal opportunity to get a good education. This is not achieved
by adding 5 Negroes,say, to an existing class of 40 whites.

Equal educational opportunities demand adequate educational
facilities, regardless of race. Our country needs more and better
schools, more and better teachers, more and better thinking about the
nature of public education in America. I know this is not within the
jurisdiction of your committee, Mr. Chairman, but T hope it will be
a part of your thinking as you weigh the issue before you.

e same applies to the problem. of housing, which is inseparable
from that of education.

Segregated housing is one of the most fundamental causes of racial
strife. It is the basis for de facto school segregation in the North.
It is a source of explosive disoont»emb—a.nd%r am understating the
matter—in every metropolitan center.

It is certainly not my contention that all Negroes live in slums.

There are comfortable, attractive Negro residential areas in almost
every major city—well-kept homes, showing every evidence of the
pride and care of their owners.
" But much of the time, the desirable suburbs are closed off. The
Negro is limited to certain, too-narrow neighborhoods, where there
simply is not enough good housing or room enough to build it. This
is certainly the dilemma that faces the Negro in Washington.

He may have a doctor’s degree from Harvard, he may earn $15,000
or $25,000 a year, but he cannot buy a suitable home in Maryland or
Virginia. His other qualifications do not matter; all that matters is
the color of hisskin. -

A few moments ago I spoke about segregation in education. Let’s
face.it; the only practical way to get rid of segregated schools is to
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erican can buy any house he wants and can afford: This is the
ultimate solution—not to transplant the students, but their parents.

President Kennedy’s Executive order on housing may have great
effect in the future. But because it does not apply to FHA. and other
loan commitments previously made, it does not help the Negro who is
house-hunting right now for a house that is already built.

One reason why it doesn’t help is that housing is still in short supply.
Asin the field of education, to insure equal access to housing there must
be enough housing. And we do not have enough housing, especially
for those in the middle and lower income brackets. _

Here again, I am aware that housing in itself is not the direct con-
cern of this committee. But since you are all Members of the Congress,
you are well aware that no single problem can be considered out of the
context of the Nation’s needs.

Even the admirable housing bill enacted by the previous Congress
did not cope with the dilemma faced by those who are a little too well
off for public housing, but not quite prosperous enough to afford ade-
quate private housing. At some early date, the Congress will have to
grapple with this matter.

Mr. Cramzr. Before we leave that section, Mr. Meany, you cited
at the outset of your discussion that it has been charged that a section
of the bill would extend to every store, restaurant, beauty parlor, and
barber shop in America, as well as many other businesses, would be
involved.

I gather by that that you think that it should apply but that it does
have such broad application under the bill, is that correct

Mr. Meaxy. Yes.

Mr. Cramer. To every business that has the slightest effect-on inter-
state commerce .

Mr. Meany. Yes.

Titles IV and V—Community Relations Service, Civil Rights
Commission : ,

These sections of the administration bill establish explicit mediation,
conciliation, and investigatory agencies dealing with civil rights prob-
lems. Since mediation—a -meeting of the minﬁs—is fund_amgnta.{’ to a
succ¢essful attack on discrimination, and sincé facts are often elusive,
we believe both agencies would be most valuable in assuring compliance
with the other titles of the bill.

The 1961 AFL~CIO convention, 25 a matter of fact, instructed mem-
ber organizations to originate or join with interracial committees in
their own areas. Following the recent meeting of union officers with
the President—which I.regret to say I was unable to attend, because
I wasin EuroXe at the time—I wrots to all the State and local central
bodies of the AFL~CIO, urging them to implement this policy and to
report their actions to me. : -

We are 'whdlly in favor of Federal efforts to encourage interracial
dialog, which title IV contemplates.

As for the Civil Rights Commission, it has surely earned by its thor-

%l’id of segregated neighborhoods. And we can do that when every

‘ough and diligent work, the right to permanent status. As I said

earlier, civil rights is not a temporary problem, subject to a one-shot
solution.
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Title VI—Federally Assisted Programs.:

In the words of a distinguished southern spokesman, a Member of
the other Housé—a man whose ability I admiire,"but whose views on
this issue I deeply deplore—tliis is the “genocide law.”

He says, in effect, that if Federal funds are denied to States which
insistupon discrimination and segregation, the States will use what
money they have for the benefit of the white population only, leaving
the Negroes toshift for themselves.

" “Or*to put it another way, he implies that the only reason there are
airy facilities: for Negroes in the South is that Federal money pays
for them,

I donot believe it; and I am certain, neither does he.

By ‘our principles in the labor movement, many white southerners,
ihcluding many union members, may be wrong headed on the race
issue. But they are not monsters, and they are not fools, either.

. In somé respects this short section of thé administration bill may be
the most effective. It hits where it hurts—in the pocketbook, It
makes discrimindtion an éxpensive luxury.

There is nothing unfair-about this. These who take the Federal
Government’s money are simply required to obey the Federal law.
¢ Mr. Cercer. I would like to interrupt you there. "We have had con-
giderable discussion before this comimittee as to whether we should
place in the hands of the President or a committee named by him the
‘enormious power or discretion to turn off appropriations already au-
thorized by Congress for installations in some of these States that
‘discriminate. -

‘What are your views? )

Mr. Meany. Ithinkhe should have that power.

Mr. Cramer. May I ask a question, M¥. Chairman ?

Mr. CeLLER. Yes. ) .

Mr. Cramxer. We, of course, have to get the definition for specifics
a8 to what'1s mearnt by “direet or indirect” financial assistance that can
be cut off, in “connection with any program or, activit'y by way of
grant, eoiitract, loan, insurance guaranty or otherwise.” Is it your
o};jinidn then, that this would apply to any typé of Federal program,
whether there is direct or indirect financial assistance of any kind, be
it msuratice, guaranty, such as Federal Deposit Insurance guaranty
on-banksandsavings and loan activities?

Mr. Meany. I don’t know whether that is' what the bill applies to,
biit T think-it should. ’
fuﬁfirﬂ CriAMERr. You think it should apply to ‘any kind of Federal

Mr.Mrany. Yes.

Mr. CraMer. Let me ask this: .

‘Would this section support the power of the Secretary of Labor, for
instance, to cut off unemployment compensation funds or apprentice-
shiptraining furids because the Secretary essentially believes that, the
State or some agency of the State in the Secrefary’s viewpoint-in its
‘hil‘iﬁg‘grj:fﬁiCés’disbrimina-ﬁion? . . .

M ~NY. I want those funds cut off the same as anyone ‘else.

. M#'COramer. So that the agencies that have the duty of administra-
tion of unemployment and others—— o
Mr. Meaxy. Federal fundsshould be cut off.
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Mr. CraMer. Beeause of that-State hiring practice, all' funds for
wunemployment and: apprenticeship training should be cut off ¢

Mr. Meaxy. Federal funds.

Mr. CeLrer. Might that not, however, in some instances hurt the
-very people—the recipients of déserved compensation—that you want
to help and that might cause a disservice to Negroes-on Federal
installations?

: Mr: Meany. I think-that is a long shot possibility, but I ain not
worried about the Secretary.of- Labor having the discretion that Mr.
Cramer refers to. ’

Mr. Cramer. Well, youwould go the whole way?

Mr.Meany. Yes.

Mr.. Cramer. Even in. prejudicing -the right of the .unemployed
laborer through unemployment compénsation %

This is the right of the laborer to this-unemployment compénsation
that is being paid for his contributions?

Mr. MeaNny. That is right. He has-a-right té‘un‘employment' com-
pensation, but if the system is used'by:the State discriminatorily, there
should not be any Federal funds: That would not affect the unem-
ployment compensation completely. Tt-would affect just that portion
of the Federal funds which are returned to the States. ” I think there
would be great pressure by that unemplojed felow, when hé didn’t
get his unemployment compensation, on the officials in the State to see
that they stop discrimination. .

Mr. CramEer: This decision as to whether discrimination exists in
employment by the agency that administers unemployment comperisa-
tion within the State, is a decision that the Secretary makes.

Let’s assume that he makes the decision that Mr. X, a colored man,
who makes application for unemployment ¢ompensation within the
State structure, is denied such compensation. The furids are cut-off

Mr. Meany. No, no, no.- You are just begging’ the. question. No.
Funds are not cut off because Mr. X gets discriminated against. Funds
would be cut off if it was the practice of the State in administering un-
employment compensation laws to discriminate.

Then I say Federal funds should be cut off. That is entirely different
than just one case. I think tliese things are subject to administrative
action and discretion.

Mr. CramEer. The question‘T asked at the outset, and you answered
affirmatively was to the effect that if the State agency, administering
these funds, practices—

Mr. Meany. That isright, practices discrimination.

Mr. CramER. In its own.employment-practices.

Mr. MEany. Right.

Myr. Cramer. That isthepeople hired in its agency.

Mr. Meany. Yes.

Mr, Cramzr. Then everybody that receives unemployment is to be,
in effect, discriminated against by not getting funds because this
agency wants to practice discrimination in itsown employment.

Mr. Meany. Youagree with me exactly.

Mr. Cramer. My example was that a colored person——

Mr. Meawny.-No, that 1s not an example of diseriminatory practice
on the part of the State agency. That is just 4 ease which: would be
subject to-State law and review.
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- Mr.CramMer. No,no. ‘Weare talking about indirect effect.

Now, it-was testified, for iristance, by Mr. Celebrezze, Secretary of
Health, Education, and Welfare, that he would have the duty to en-
force 4 number of the programs under this section. If, under the Hill-
Burton Act, a hospital today wanted to add an addition, and during
theé period of this application, the administraters of that hospital re-
fused to hire a nurse, a Negro nurse who makes an application, and
that Negro nurse complained to the Secretary that she was being, in
her opinion, discriminated against—now it may be that she was not
being discriminated against; maybe she was not equally as well quali-
fied as other applicants—that the Secrefary, on his discretion, could
cut off funds for that addition 2. )

Mr. Meany. In the case of probable unproven discrimination, that
is nonsense. But if there was discrimination, the answer is the same.
Mr. Cramer. Now we get to the crux of it. d h

Mr. Meany. Yes.

Mr. Cramzer. The Secretary makes the decision.

‘What right of review does that State agency that refused to hire Mr.
X that I mentioned a minute ago, or does that hospital administrator
who refused to hire this nurse have if the funds are cut off in an arbi-
trarymanner? :

Mr. Meany. I imagine they have the right of any other citizen who
feels that a public agency is not treating them fairly, the right to
go to court. .

Mr. Cramer. They would have to prove an abuse of discretion in
order to have a remedy of any kind in the Federal court.

Mr. Meany: Right.

Mr. Cramer. Which is almost an impossible burden.

Mr. MeaNy. Yes. Almost impossible burden and an almost im-
possible situation. ;

Mr. Ceamer. Why shouldn’, if it is admitted that they should have
a remedy, why shouldn’t some kind of remedy for the agency being
accused of discriminating be written into this section of the law?

Mr. Meany. T am not taking the position that there should not be
some remedy put in the law to give these people a right of review.

You injected that question. I am addressing myself to the simple
question, “Should Federal funds be given to any agency, any State
agency, that discriminates in violation %”

. Mr. Cramzr. I understand that.

Mr. Cerrer. You are probably not a lawyer, Mr. Meany, but if, for
example——

Mr. Meany. Ihave often been thankfyl for that.

Mr. Cerrer. But I want to say this:

There isa remedy. Thereisa remedy. Thecourtsareopen. .

Mr. Meany. My profession is much more important. I am a
plumber. [Laughter.]

Mr. Cecrer. I want to say, as a lawyer, if, for example, the Sec-
retary of Health, Education, and Welfare capriciously or arbitrarily
in the case of that nurse refuses to make a Hill-Burton grant, the hos-
pital or the entity involved can go to court now'and ask a review
that is open to anyone.” The courts are always open to review those.

Mr. MeEaNy. All of them. ' .

Mr. CramEr. Yes, but let me finish the line of interrogation, if the
chairman will permit. .-
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The thing that disturbs me on the basis of the question is the lack
of an adequate review of the dec¢ision made by the Secretary in these
different programs. Going to court and——

Mr. Meany. I don’t object to putting a review in.

Mr. Cramer. I thank you.

Then you wouldn’t object to an administrative or some other type
of remegy for the agency involved, because what bothers me is that
this fellow, this employee, is entitled to his unemployment compensa-
tion. He has paid his money into the fund and is unemployed and
entitled to unemployment compensation and should have that right,
which is a civil right as much as any other and which may be taken
away from him because the State administering its own employment
practices might practice diserimination

There is no relationship between the private rights as such and the
diserimination. But the Secretary could cut off funds and it seems
to me it is too much authority and too much power.

Mr. Meany. The question that occurs under the Secretary’s power,
we are not going to enter into that. That is something for you fellows
in Con, towork out. I am justsaying if the discrimination exists,
the Federal funds should be cut off.

Mr. Linpsay. If your policy here was consistently pursued, do you
think it would in any way endanger the passage of Federal housing
or Federal aid to education ?

Mr. Meany. Would it ehdanger?

Mr. Linpsay. Yes, if it was persistently pursued.

Mr. Meany. Well, it has endan ereg it in the past. For God’s
sake, where have you been? We have this problem. It is thrown
into all sorts of legislation. Of course, our stand is endangered. Itnot
only endangers us legislatively, it prevents us from organizing in the
South. The record will show that we have had a very difficult time
in the South, especially since 1954, but we still believe in this vital
principle.

Mr. :)[II:N'DSAY. Congress has struggled for years under the last thres
administrations with Federal aid to primary education in this country.

The question is, in part, foundet? on this question of civil rights.

Mr. Meany. Right. I don’tthink that that is any reason to compro-
mise with a vital principle.

Mr. Linpsay. That was the question that I was anxious to get an
answer to.

Mr. CeLier. Go ahead with your statement. ’

Mr. Meany. It so happens that the section of the country where
segregation and discrimination are most prevalent—the Southeastern
States—is a section which, year in and year out, is heavily subsidized
by the rest of the country.

Let me make it clear that we do not take sectional sides in the labor
movement. We know—since the figures are a matter of record-—that
for the last 30 years, at least, the Federal Government has spent bil-
lions of dollars more in the South than it has taken out in taxes. We
know that in many ways the South has used this subsidy to good
advantage. Southern enterprise has been stimulated; the southern
standard of living and level of education have come a little closer to
the rest of the country.

25-144 O-63—pt. 3—3
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But it makes no sense for the rest of the country to prop up a few
States that cling to discredited, disgraceful, and undemocratic prac-
tices. It is unfortunate enough that some southern institutions seem
to be dedicated to the eternal glorification of a rebellion against the
United States; we do not have to pay their bills as well.

In short, we believe this title is Just and necessary, and it has our
unqualified.support.

Title VII—Equal employment opportunity :

The administration bill is l'imiteg to the creation of a commission
which would undertake the duties now being performed by the body
established by Executive order of the President. We have no objec-
tion to this, but, of course, it is only a beginning.

In his message, the President repeated his endorsement of eqi)lal
opportunity legislation already pending in Congress. Presumably
he referred to H.R. 405, recently approved by a subcommittee of the
Committee on Education and Labor. ,

‘There is, however, an equal employment opportunity section in
HR. 3139 as well. So I hope it Wiﬁ)be in order gor me to discuss the
employment question in the broadest sense. As the spokesman for
organized labor, I could hardly do otherwise.

The various aspects of civil rights I have covered up to this point
affect the labor movement only to the extent that they affect other
Americans.

Moreover, aside from voting rights, these other aspects—important
as they are—apply for the most part to Negroes who have good jobs
or a reasonable prospect of getting them. '

Equal education, for example, has meaning only for those Negro
children whose parents can afford to keep them in school, or for the
young Negroes who can afford to finish out their apprenticeships.

Ié}qual access to housing has meaning only for those who can afford
to buy. .

quality in places of public accommodation is relevant only for
those with money to spend.

So it seems to us in-the AFL-CIO that the vital issue, the chief
among equals, if you will, is jobs.

I referred earlier to a hypothetical example of an employer who
would hire Negroes if he could find qualified applicants.

But that is only one side of the coin. On tge other side you find the
trained, qualified Negroes who cannot find a place for their talents.
You find the untrained but naturally gifted Negroes who are denied
a fair chance to develop their aptitudes. And you find the Negroes
\(’ivho on the basis of their own observation and experience, simply

on’t try.

Here again, I will leave the statistics to others. We have recited
them often enough. A Negro unemployment rate at least twice that
of the whites; a pattern of Negro employment concentrated in the
lowest paid and most menial jobs—the figures tell their own story.

It would be easy for me to point the finger at southern industry,
where genuinely integrated production forces are almost unknown,
and let it go at that. It would be easy to say that the problems in
-northern cities stem to a considerable degree from the emigration of
southern Negroes who face a hopeless future in their home areas.
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ATl this is true, but it is not the whole truth, and the issue is too grave
for hairsplitting.

The plain fact is, Mr. Chairman, that Negro workers as a whole,
North or South, do not enjoy anything approaching equal employ-
ment opportunity.

‘We ask you now, as we have asked the Congress for many years,
for effective, enforceable legislation to correct this glaring injustice,.
which must be corrected in order to make the other aspects of a civil
rights program effective.

We have a selfish reason ; in fact, we have two of them.

First, we need the statutory support. of the Federal Government
to carry out the unanimously-adopted principles of our own organiza-
tion, the AFL~CIO.

Our conventions have repeatedly endorsed a Federal Fair Employ-
ment Practices Commission, armed with all necessary powers. Long
before merger, the AFL and CIO separately pressed for such legisla-
tion.

The most recent AFL—~CIO convention, in December 1961, while
strengthening our own internal civil rights machinery, pleaded again
for Federal help—help that would apply to the labor movement as
well as to employers.

In other words, we need the force of law to carry out our own
principles.

Why is this so? Primarily because the labor movement is not
what 1ts enemies say it is—a monolithic, dictatorial, centralized body
that imposes its will on the helpless dues payers. We operate in a
democratic way, and we cannot dictate even in a good cause.

So in effect, we need a Federal law to help us do what we want
to do—mop up those areas of discrimination which still persist in
our own ranks.

Second, we want Federal legislation because we are tired of being
the whipping boy in this area.

‘We have never at any time tried to gloss over the shortcomings of
unions on the subject of equal opportunity. Yes, some of our members
take a wrong-headed view; I have just said so, I have said so before,
and I repeat 1t again.

But we in the labor movement publicly de&lore these few holdouts
against justice. We do our utmost to bring them around to the right
side. And at the same time, the employers—who actually do the
hiring—escape in many instances with no criticism whatever.

Mr. CeLrer. Would you care to put in the record just briefly what
you are doing in that regard, so that we——

Mr, Meany. What?

Mr. CeLrer. ' Would you care to place in the record——

Mr. Meany. Yes, I will be glad to place it in the record. It will
be quite a long memorandum, Mr. Chairman. I will give you a
memorandum showing all of our actions, what our civil rig%lts depart-
ment is doing. We %ave a regular established department here in
Washington ; we have civil rights committees working with minority
groups 1n many sections of the country, and I Will%e glad to give
you a memorandum going into this quite extensively.

Mr. Cerrer. I would like tohaveit. ‘
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Mr. Cramzr. What sanctions has the AFL~CIO placed against
southern unions that do not integrate? You say the Federal Gov-
ernment should place all kinds of sanctions against governing au-
thorities and otherwise in the Southern States who do not integrate—
ifﬁd&ldeing withholding funds—has there been any effort to withhold

nds?

Mr. Meany. No, they don’t get any funds from us. We withhold
certain services from them if they dont’ go along.

Mr. CraMer. What sanctions have you imposed, Mr. Meany, on
the southern labor unions who have refused to integrate ¢

Mr. Meany. What sanctions have we imposed? I just told you
that we withhold certain services that they normally would get from
the national organization that they can’t get. We keep up the pressure,
and we have been quite successful, I want to say, over the years. How-
ever, I would like to point out that this is a two-way problem. Our
opposition in the South in at least 50 percent of the cases, in fact I
would say over 50 percent of the cases, comes from the segregated
Negro local. In a good many cases they don’t want to integrate with
the white local.

Mr. Cramer. Do you admit or suggest by that there are, perhaps,
other activities in the South in which the Negroes do not gesire to
integrate?

Mr. Meany. That could be, but we insist on following our princi-
ples and I say we have been quite successful in this. We still have
a few spots. I don’t think we have any more national unions with a
color bar. We did have one. We just kept up the pressure, and we
finally got them to capitulate here just a few days ago, so I make no
claim that we have had an outstanding success in this. I think we
have had some success, but I do claim we keep on trying all the time.

Mr. Cramer. The point I was getting at, in addition to the answers
which you have very candidly given so far—do you have other pres-
sures or other means that you could employ that you are not employing
to force it, in that you are asking Federal Government to use every
conceivable method ?

Mr. Meaxy. We don’t have any other means except expulsion and
that is not effective.

Mr. Crarer. Has any consideration been given to that %

Mr. Meany. Not in this type of case, no. We have talked about it,
but we don’t believe it would serve the purpose. We have put unions
under trusteeship. In other words, put & man in to handle their own
affairs and more or less put them under complete supervision of the
international union in order to compel them to go along. Of course,
this destroys, this limits their rights, the rights they would normally
have as members. .

Mr. Cramer. As I gather, your testimony relating to some of the
Southern States which you discussed at the bottom of page 15, praec-
tically calls for the expulsion from the union of these States. They
should have no funds whatsoever from the Federal Government.?

Mr. Meany. I didn’t propose that.

Mr. Cramzr. You support the sanction in this bill of no funds of
any kind from the Federal Government and every other type of en-
forcement compulsion to try to get the Southern States to comply
with what the national policies should be? .
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Myr. Meany. That isright.

Mr. Cranmer. If that is your belief in the case of the Federal Gov-
ernment and you believe in it so strongly, why shouldn’t you practice
the same with the unions and take every available conceivable
means——

. Mr. Meany. We do. We do. They don’t have any funds coming
from us but they have services coming from us, the services of our
various departiments and these, of course, are denied to them if they
don’t go along. We keep putting the pressure on. In some of the
cases in which they are put under trusteeship, they actually lose the
power to run their own business. I think we do everything, use every
power that we have. Afterall

Mr. C'ramer. Except the most effective and that might be expulsion?

Mr. Meany. No. We have tried that and that doesn’t work. Tha
isnot too good. It doesn’t change the situation. , .

Of course, another thing, you see, we are under pretty rigid rules
imposed by the Federal Government under the Landrum-Griffin Act
and the Taft-Hartley Act. There are certain things that we can’t do.
You say “expel.” Well, we don’t think that that is the remedy. I
imagine that we might run afoul of Taft-Hartley or Landrum-Griffin
if we tried to expel.

Mr. Cramer. I don’t say “expel”—I say you are inconsistent in sug-
gesting every Federal sanction to force integration while you do not
practice this—do not practice what you preach—in the AFL~CIO.
If there might be some inclination to amend those labor laws to per-
mit you to take the action to force integration that you are asking the
Federal Government to take—that is, unlimited sanctions—and it
relates to your equally recalcitrant unions, what would be your
attitude?

i}’lr. Mzaxy. I say we take all the authority we have the power to
take.

lMI&. Crrzer. We have no power in this committee to do that. Go
ahead.

Mr. Meany. If there has been any widespread outery from employ-
ers who want to hire Negroes, but have been prevented from doing sa
by a union, it has not reached my ears.

On the other hand, there have been innumerable instances in which
a fair employment and promotion policy has been established in a
company at the insistence of the union, over the employer’s anguished
protests.

WWhen it comes to legislation, it has been the labor movement that
has asked for equal employment opportunity laws, applicable to
unions as well as to management ; while it has been the employers and
their associations which, at every level—local, State, and Federal—
have been in bitter opposition.

Yet if you base your opinions on newspaper accounts, you would
think that the barriers to Negroes, especially in the crafts, were union
barriers, pure and simple. This is untrue and unfair.

Consequently, we take exception to the manner in which title IT of
H.R. 8139 proposed to deal with cases of diserimination. The. guilty
employer simply loses his Government contracts. But the guilty union
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is subject to a whole range of continuing sanctions, including court
action and National Tiabor Relations Board proceedings.

Mpr. Cerrer. In justice to those who sponsored bill 3139, there was
a statement made in the record the other day that it was agreed that
those sanctions would be removed as far as labor unions are concerned.

Mr. Cramer. May I ask a question there, Mr. Chairman, relating
to that?

Mr. CeLiEr. Yes.

Mzr. Cramer. T gather by that, from the sentence just read and other
statements made, you believe that unions should be included in title VII
as well as management?

Mr. Meany. I think that the title should be reexamined, and I think
that the guilty employer should be punished to the same extent as the
guilty union. 'What I am complaining about is not that the guilty
union has sanctions imposed. I am complaining against unequal treat-
ment of the employer. )

Mr. Cramer. I am sure that you are aware of the fact that the bill.
drafted by the administration and sent to Congress does not include
unions in title VII?

Mr. Meaxy. I refer to title IT of H.R. 3139, which does.

Mr. Cramzr. Yes. And therefore is it your position that both man-
agement and labor should be included under the fair employment
practices?

Mr. Meaxy. That is right. Yes, I have said that many a time.

Mr. Cramer. As well as equal employment opportunity. Now, if
that be the case, it is obvious that the Federal Government has a simple
way of enforcing it, relating to management and that is by withdraw-
ing contracts along with withholding funds. Now what sanction do
you believe would be a reasonable one against a union’s practice of
discrimination ¢

Mr. Meaxy. The union is subject to all sorts of sanctions under the
National Labor Relations Act, which we feel are in addition to—over
and above the employer, the sauctions against the employer.

Mr. Cramer. T understand that, but what sanctions would you, on
behalf of labor, agree to as an enforcement of title VII, to make cer-
tain that the unions do not——

Mr. Meany. I don’t agree to the sanctions that are in this bill.

Mr. Cramer. There aren’t any.

Mr. MEaxY. Oh, yes, there are. Yes, there are.

Mr. Cramer. Would you care to point them out?

Mr. Meany. Well, a union that discriminates can be forced to'give
bﬁﬁk pay to the victims. That is 3189. That is what I am talking
about.

Mr. Cramer. Well, I am talking about 7152 that is before us, in-
troduced by the chairman and proposed by the administration, which
does not include unions. Do you believe that cease-and-desist orders
through the courts should be provided for?

Mr. Meany. I believe that unions should be included, the same as
employers and there should be whatever equality of sanctions that
can be imposed on both sides.

Mr. Cramzr. Do you think that cease-and-desist orders relating to
labor unions that diseriminate would be a proper remedy ?
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Mr. Meany. Do I think cease-and-desist orders? I think that they
are all right, but I question whether they go far enough.

Mr. Cramer. That is all.

Mr. Cenier. Go ahead.

Mr. Mraxy. For example, a union that diseriminates can be forced
to give backpay to the victims. Not so the employer. A union that
discriminates anywhere can be denied certification throughout the
country—in other words, obliterated. It is not hard to Imagine a
southern employer, or even a northern one, cooking up a discrimina-
tion case as a device for getting rid of a union. .

‘We do not object to strong, effective enforcement powers applied to
unions. We do object to a slap-on-the-wrist approach to employers,
who are in most cases responsible for job discrimination in the first

lace.

P Moreover, H.R. 3139 merely clothes with statutory power the present
jurisdiction of the President’s Committee on Equal Employment Op-
portunity—that is, it would apply only to employers having Gov-
ernment contracts or subcontracts. That is true of the administration
bill as well. However, the President’s message endorsed in addition,
the broader coverage of HL.R. 405. This is clearly preferable, and we
urge its adoption.

%Ir. Cramer. I gather that the H.R. 405 you referred to was
included in the President’s message referring to labor rights as well
as the broad FEPC approach?

Mr. Meany. Yes.

Mr. Cramer. As I understand the broad FEPC approach that is
being considered by the Education and Labor Committee now includes
not only the private enterprise sector but Government contracts as
well? Tt covers everything?

Mr. Meaxy. It has been reported by the committee, I understand.

Mzr. Cramzr. Either has been or is being. You probably have more
information on that than I.

Mr. Meany. Yes,it hasbeen reported.

Mr. CraMer. Assuming that it is to be considered by Congress in the
near future, then doesn’t that negate the necessity for title VII in the
civil rights bill in that it covers exactly the same territory, discrimina-
tion in Government contracts as well as the additional territory of
private contracts?

Mr. Muany. If they pass405,yes.

I have spoken about the labor movement’s selfish interest in this
question. But aside from that, we support enforcible equal opportu-
nity in employment because it is morally right.

urely every American is entitled to be judged on his own, on the
basis of his ability. e ought to have the same rights on the assembly
Iine, in apprenticeship training or anywhere else that he nows enjoys
on the ballfield. We lost the best of Satchel Paige to ghetto base-
ball; we need every Willie Mayswe can find.

However, as T have said from time to time in other sections of this
testimony, equal opportunity is meaningless without full opportunity.
We agree that it must be written into law. But as I have repeatedly
pointed out, the one greatest contribution that could be made toward
equal employment opportunities ‘for Negroes would be full employ-
ment opportunities for everyone.
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A program designed to open up jobs. for Negroes at the expense of
whites is no program at all. What e need is jobs for all who want
and need them.

This is not a theoretical problem. For instance, one of the unions
that has worked most vigorously and most successfully for job integra-
tion, all along the line, is the United Auto Workers. Yet in some of
the auto plants, successfully integrated 20 years ago, the proportion
of Negroes is steadily declining with the drop in employment. Twenty
years’ seniority is no longer enough to insure a job in Detroit.

Confronted with this problem—and I am not minimizing it—some
Negro spokesmen call for “superseniority” and superior hiring pref-
erence for Negroes.

They say that except. for discrimination in the past, Negroes would
now have a fair share of the seniority enjoyed by white workers. That
is true. But then they say, that as a form of penance, senior white
workers should be dismissed to make room for Negroes with less
service. And they say that hiring opportunities should not be equal;
they should be loaded in such a way as to give Negroes precedence.

Believe me, Mr. Chairman, I understand the feelings that lead to
these demands. They stem from a century of frustration. But as
a trade unionist, I cannot accept them.

First of all, superseniority would throw into the street white workers
who were in no way responsible for the previous discrimination
against Negroes. They would be deprived of their personal livelihood
because of a community sin. It is possible, of course, that the ax
might fall on a leader of the Ku Klux Klan, It is equally possible
that the victim might be the long-abused chairman of the local union’s
civil rights committee.

Mr. Cramer. Tt has been suggested, and I think it is pretty well
substantiated that orders have gone out for the hiring of Negroes in
Government jobs in many places throughout. the country, even though
they may not have top standing on registers and even though they may
not have veteran’s preference, for instance. They are being permitted
to jump over those that do have higher standing on the register or
who do have veteran’s preference.

I gather by your statement that you certainly would not approve
that practice as it relates to non-GGovernment sectors. I ask if you
approve that action as it relates to the Government. )

Mr. Meany. If you are talking about the practice of insisting on a
contractor not diseriminating, of course, I am in agreement with that.
But if you are talking about doing an injustice to one worker in order
to eliminate a previous injustice against another worker, I do not
agree.

“Mr. Cramer. That is what I am talking about as it relates to Gov-
-ernment employees, not Government contracts. In many places of the
country orders have gone out that a Negro shall be given preference in
employment, shall be put in the front office.

Mr. Meaxy. You ask me do I agree with that? The answer is “I do
not.”

Mr. Cramer. Thank you.

Mr. Meaxy. I think I stated that quite clearly. I said our epmmon
goal is justice and not vengeance.
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Mr. Cerier. I take it that you deprecate some of the demonstrations
that occurred ¢ .

Mr, Meany. Mr. Chairman, I am not talking about the demonstra-
tions. I wasreplying to Mr. Cramer on the question of

Mzr. Cerrar. Let me finish.

Mr.. MeaNy. I certainly agree that the people have a right to dem-
onstrate.

Mr. MeaNy. Let me finish my statement. I probably didn’t use the
right words. I mean demonstrations in the form of boycotts and
service against certain buildings now being erected because there are
no colored employed, only skilled whites are employed and those
that are objecting and demanding that the contractor in that building
trade, of that building trade employ Negroes to do work on that job,
which would mean the displacement of white workers. Now, you
deplore those kinds of demonstrations; wouldn’t you ?

Mr. Meany. I deplore a demonstration that is looking for a special
treatment for Negroes.

On the otlier hand, T certainly think that the Negroes have a right
to demonstrate against injustice and I don’t think that there is any
set answer to these problems.

I think they depend on the particular industry and trade involved.
We talk about the building trades. We have many building trades
which present no problem at all, because there are qualified people
from both white and Negro races in the union.

There are other cases where there are not. I think that in those
cases, especially the highly skilled trades, there has to be a campaign
put on by the peoplewho run the apprentice training programs, which
n practically all cases are run jomntly by an association of employ-
ers and unions, that we have to bring Negroes into that apprentice
training. We have to bring in the qualified Negro boys and let them
learn the trade. I don’t know what you do with a contractor who does
not have access to qualified Negro applicants at his particular trade in
a particular loeality.

I am not begging the question, but this is certainly true in certain
areas of the country.

. In some of the cases where there have been demonstrations, there has
been a large percentage of Negroes on the job but they have not been
in certain trades. They have %reen under, for instance, the plastering
trade. In the plastering trade in many cases there are more Negroes
than white in the loecal uniéns.

In bricklaying we have no problem. In carpenters we have very
little problem, but when you get into some of the highly skilled trades,
so-called specialty trades that have only a few people, comparatively,
on the job, in those cases you will find out that there are no Negroes
qualified, because they have never had the apprenticeship training
because they have been barred from the apprenticeship list, and this
is where it has to be corrected.

_ Mr. Cerier. I think in New York the building trades unions are
inaugurating a system of hiring Negroes to become apprentices so
that they finally can be skilled to take those skilled jobs.

Mr. Meany. That is right. Y want to say, Mr. Chairman, this is
not an easy problem and you just don’t solve it by saying that you
are going to have another system, a quota system. I think you have
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to understand that the people in these trades work for contractors.
They don’t work for people who initiate the job. They work for con-
tractors who are looking for work just the same as the mechanics are,
and that these contractors in a good many cases—especially in—well,
in practically all cases, I would say, get their jobs by competitive
bidding.

Into this competitive bidding goes all the materials they have to
buy, all the supervision they have to give, all the preparatory work,
the planning, the drawing of detailed drawings, and, in addition to
that, the skilled Iabor.

Your contractor is faced with the problem, if you were to say to him
“You have to have so many Negroes,” he has the problem of not only
finding Negroes who are willing to work but finding Negroes who are
qualified to do this work.

I say in most cases—there are casés where there are Negroes working
at the trades who are not in the unions, and I think the answer there
is to bring them into the unions. But there are other cases where
we don’t have Negroes in the trades, and I think that in'those cases
they have got to approach it as the Electrical Workers in the city of
New York are approaching it, by opening up their apprentice roles
to Negroes, and not to just a few. They have invited hundreds of
Negroes and they have several hundreds of Negroes where a few
years ago they didn’t have any.

As T say, this is a difficult problem, but I don’t think you solve it by
doing an injustice to the white worker in order to displace him with
a Negro worker.

Mr. Cramrr. That is precisely what I am concerned about, because
of the broad authority that is given to the executive branch in this
bill. I trust you realize that under title VI, withholding of funds,
that even that situation which you described, where there are no avail-
able, qualified Negroes, that if the Negro files a complaint, that the
Federal Government could withhold funds.

Mr. MEany. That would not be a clear case of discrimination. You
can’t—it would be complete nonsense to withhold funds if people
were nof there to be hired. If the people are not there to be hired,
then nobody is being discriminated against.

Mr. Cramer. Even though the fact that nobody is there is the fault
of the union in this instance for him not being permitted to train him-
self because they practice segregation. Do you think that the adminis-
tration, if it is going to carry out the intent and purpose of this act,
could then say “We will rubberstamp or ratify this past union dis-
crimination by going ahead and spending Federal funds even though
these past actions result in present ‘de facto’ discrimination#”

Mr. Meany. I think the administration should constructively try
to correct that situation.

Mr. Cerrer. I have listened to Mr. Cramer on this question. If
you try to satisfy him, you have no bill whatsoever.

Mr. Cramzer. Mr. Chairman, I have listened to your comments on
my questions before, too. I think we have a duty to try and draft a
good bill and a further duty to find out what the thrust of this proposil
is.

Mr. Cerrzr. We would have no bill.
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Mr. Cramer. I think the American people are as interested in know-
ing the thrust of this bill as any bill that has ever been before the
Congress of the United States and I think it is the duty of every
member of the committee to determine what the thrust of it is and I
am certain Mr. Meany is interested in the thrust as it relates to union
matters.

Let’s say we have a Negro who is not & qualified union member but
otherwise entitled by qualifications to be put on a construction project
and he is denied the employment. What is the Government to do?

Mr. Meany. Then the Government should insist that the union
take him into membership. .

Mr. Cramer. Suppose the Negro doesn’t want to join the union.
He wants to be employed, but not join the union.

Mr. Meany. Then it i1s very simple. The Government tells the
employer to put him to work and the union men do what they do as
individual Americans—they stay home. [Laughter.]

Mr. CraMer. That is precisely it. This is a way of forcing union
membership or denying any relief to a Negro that is not a union
member. Thatisall.

Mr. MEaper. Mr. Chairman, may I ask a question? I regret, Mr.
Meany, that I was unable to be here earlier. I was at another com-
mittee meeting where we were dealing with legislation.

When Mr. Wirtz was before the committee on June 27, and on page
241 of the transcript, we had a colloquy concerning the number of
Negroes in the trades. He gave us some figures resulting from a sur-
vey that he had made and I quoted from an article in the Washington
Post, of that day, in which a figure was used by, I believe, an official
of the NAACP, that there were only 300 Negro plumbers and elec-
tricians in the entire United States. :

I wonder if that figure corresponds with your knowledge of the
extent of Negro electricians and plumbers. It seems like a fantas-
tically low figure that within the United States there are only 300
Negro plumbers and electricians.

Mr. Meany. I am quite sure that that figure is wrong. We have no
statistics In our unions where we record the color of a2 man’s skin, and
I might say to you that as long as I have been in the labor movement,
there has been a very rigid rule that this should not be a question put
to a person seeking employment, whether it would be in one of our
trades or any place, so we do not have statistics on that score.

I know that the Chicago Plumber’s Union has a Negro business
agent, so they must have some Negro members there. There isno ques-
tion that there are places in the country where the Plumber’s Union
does not have Negro members. There are undoubtedly places where
the Electrical Union does not have Negroes, but to say there are only
300 in the whole country 1 think is nonsense.

I was discussing this question before with the chairman and I took
the position that this is not an easy problem and that we hayve to bring
the Negroes into these skilled trades and we have to bring them in
either by the apprenticeship route or, if they are working at the trade
and not in the union, we have to bring them in the union.

Insofar as the policy of the union is concerned, all.of the unions, in-
cluding the plumbers and the electrical workers, have a policy against
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discrimination. They have taken action all the way down the line.
But we are faced with local opposition.

‘We have 60,000 local unions, 60,000 local unions in the AFL~CIO,
who are affiliated to 130 national unions and each of these unions have
certain rights under the Constitution. They have certain rights even
beyond the Constitution given to them by the labor laws of this
country, and we run into opposition. There is no question about it.

In 1954 in iny office I received 10,000 letters alone from local unions
in the South, practically every one of them protesting the AFL’s stand
on the question of public school integration. Those letters, some of
them, were pretty violent, but we have stuck right to our principles on
this and we make no pretense. We cannot accomplish this overnight,
but we are in there pitching and I think we are making definite
progress.

Now, we are not going to make enough progress, ever, to satisfy
someé of the Negro organizations who want things done not tomorrow,
but they want them done the day before yesterday.

Mr. Meaper. Mr. Chairman, yesterday I received from a Mr. Hill of
the NAACP a letter which recited that Mr. Mitchell had called his
attention to my questioning of this figure of 300 Negro plumbers and
electricians in the entire United States, and in this letter he gave the
source of information on which apparently he had relied.

I transmitted that letter to you, Mr. Chairman, with the suggestion
that you might want to incorporate it in the record and I think that
this would be an appropriate place—Counsel tells me you haven’t
received it yet.

Mr. Cerrer. They haven’t received it ?

Mr. Mxzaber. Yes, but I made the request, I believe, of Secretary
Wirtz when he was here, that he would make.some effort in his Labor
Department to ascertain the accuracy of this figure of 300 Negro elec-
tricians and plumbers in the entire United States, and I wonder if it
wouldr’t be appropriate to ask Mr. Meany if he would have any way
of making a study ¢

Mr. Mrany. One of the heads of our unions asked Mr. Wirtz only
a few days ago as to what method he should use to find out how many
Negroes there were in his organization, because they had no vital sta-
tistics. They had all sorts of statistics, but they had no statisties show-
ing the color of a man’s skin, and this was because of a rule of the
union going back many, many years.

I understand that he was told by a representative of Mr. Wirtz,
“Well, go out and take a head count.”

I don’t kmow just how anyone can get accurate figures by taking a
head count, unless you go from door to door and went to people’s
houses. I don’t know. I would assume that there are reasonable esti-
mates of Nesro membership, but none of them are accurate and I doubt
very much that the 300 figure has any accuracy at all.

Mr. Meaper. Would you be able to supply the committee?

Mr. Mzany. No.

Mr. Meaper. After having your people check ?

Mr. Meany. No, I have no facilities to get that kind of count. I
can’t get it from the records. I can’t send out—I don’t have the man-
power to survey the membership by a head count, as was suggested,
of 60,000 local unions. That is completely impossible.
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Mr. Mzaper. Do you have a figure, or can you supply a figure of the
total number of plumbers and electricians in the United States?

Mr. MEaNY. Yes.

Mr. Meaper. Do you have it in mind ¢

Mr. Meany. The total figure, I would say perhaps between the two
organizations, 500,000. -

Mr. Meaper. But you could supply an accurate figure?

Mr. Meaxy. Yes,Ican dothat.

Mr. Cramer. Since one of the means is for the Federal Government
to withhold funds in an area where the agencies practice discrimina-
tion, what authority do you think the Federal Government has under
thie bill for withholding funds from the local governmént agency on a
project where the unions discriminate? Wouldn’t the Federal Gov-
ernment have to withhold funds so long as such practice exist?

Mr. Mrany. Of course they would.

Mz, Linpsay. Just one supplemental question to that. I am sure
that you would agree that one of the great crises we have in the cities
is the pressure of housing.

In the past, housing supporters have taken the view that it was more
important to have housing legislation than it was to run the possible
risk of losing legislation by attaching discrimination riders. My un-
derstanding is that the AFL~CIO supported that general strategy po-
sition. IfIam wrong, please correct me.

My question is, “Does your testimony reflect a reversal or change
in that position?” In other words, when we are faced as legislators
with the problem of specific legislation, what is the position of the
AFIL~CIO with respect to any discrimination riders in connection
with the application of those laws?

Mr. Meany. Our position I think is made quite clear by my testi-
mony, that we don’t want riders, we want an overall prohibition,
everywhere.

Mr. Linpsay. Thank you.

Mr. Meany. Mr. Chairman, I just have about 5 minutes more.

It seems to me that our common goal is justice ; not vengeance. This
is especially true when vengeance would be exacted from those whose
only guilt was the color of their skin. We are against that sort of
thing for Negroes; we are against it for whites as well.

Second, the demand for special treatment for Negroes, at any level,
misses the point. There is not much future in a program for sharing
misery. Yes, Negroes have been held back, unfairly and unreasonably,
to the extent that unions have been responsible; we accept our share
of the blame. But the road ahead must be broad enough for all; not
a bottleneck through which we squeeze people of one kind or another,
leaving some of every kind looking in from the outside.

In short, the only real remedy is jobs for all.

Third, the safeguards built up by the frade union movement over
the years—seniority included—are important to workers of all races.
And all workers, of all races, will suffer if they are destroyed. If you
destroy seniority in the hope of correcting racial injustice, you destroy
it entirely. Those who might reap quick benefits could also be the
first losers. Once hired, what rights would they have to stay on the
job? How and where would they plead if they were fired?
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T repeat, I understand both the bitterness and the impatience of
Negroes. But in this respect they ars not thinking clearly.

In employment, as in all the rest, equal means enough; equal with-
out enough means nothing at all.

These, then, are the elements we believe should be, and must be,
incorporated into the law of the land.
b.llid:ost of them are covered, as I have noted, by the administration

ill.

But as the President also has said, the hour is too late for half
measures. The battle for true equality for all Americans has now been
joined ; let us fight it out all the way.

It would help to clear the air, I think, if all of us recognized that
equality can no longer be doled out in small portions. And it would
help if the Negro minority realized that the final victory is at hand,
and can be won—not in the distant future, but now—through the
orderly processes of legislation and litigation as prescribed by the
Constitution of the United States.

This would be a healthy thing all around, and I hope it will come
to pass.

Let us, therefore, move forward, Mr. Chairman, here in this com-
mittee, whose heritage is so distinguished; let us move forward in
the House and in the Senate; let us demonstrate that a goverment of
law can work, that the Constitution means what it says, and that it
applies equally to every American.

‘We, in the labor movement, hope with the deepest sincerity that this
will be a truly bipartisan effort. Many times in the past, when the
Nation has been plunged into crisis, the Congress has risen above
narrow consideration of political advantage, and has provided the
wisdom and statesmanship the occasion demanded.

This is just such a time. While for purposes of clarity, I have re
ferred to the administration bill and to the Republican bill, the legis-
lation that finally emerges from your deliberations should be the
country’s bill. Nothing less will fully serve the national interest.

Mr. Ceuuer. I want to state, Mr. Meany, that you have been re-
freshingly candid, you huve been direct ang logical, and I would say
.most effective and most helpful.

‘We are grateful for your presentation and grateful to those with
whom you worked out your paper.

Mr. Mzany. Thank you.

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF LAROR

AND CONGRESS OF INDGSTRIAYT. ORGANIZATIONS,
Washington, D.C., August 7, 1963.
Hon. EMANUEL CELLER,
Chairman, Commitiee on the Judiciary, Cannon Building, House of Represenia-
tives, Washington, D.O.

DeAR ComatryaN CELLER: When I testified before your committee on the pro-
posed civil rights legislation -on July 17, I was asked to supply for the record
of the hearing a description of the civil rights program of the AFL-CIO.

In response o this request, I have prepared a summary of the civil rights
activities of the AFI~CIO over the period extending from January 1962 to
July 1963. Two copies are enclosed. The inclusion of this statement, as a sup-
plement to my testimony, will be appreciated.

‘With many thanks to you for your lendership in driving for the enactment
of the urgently needed strong and forthright civil rights law, and with kind
personal regards, I am,

Sincerely yours,
GEORGE MEAKNY, President.
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SUPPLEMENTARY STATEMERT BY GEORGE MEANY, PRESIDENT OF THE AMERICAN
FEDERATION OF LAROR AND CONGRESS OF INDUSTRIAL ORGANIZATIONS

In 1962 and 1963 the AFI~CIO stepped up its drive for ecivil rights goals.

This period began with appointment of a reconstituted and expanded standing
committee on civil rights, placed under the chairmanship of Secretary-Treasurer
William F. Schnitzler.

Other members of the AFL~-CIO standing committee on civil rights are:

Eugene E. Frazier, president of the United Transport Service Employees of
Amerieca.

George M..Harrison, chief executive of the Brotherhood of Railway Clerks.

David J. McDonald, president of the United Steelworkers of America.

Lee W. Minton, president of the Glass Bottle Blowers’ Association of the
United States and Canada.

Louis Simon, vice president of the Amalgamated Clothing Workers of America.

Richard F. Walsh, president of the International Alliance of Theatrical Stage
Employes and Moving Picture Machine Operators of the United States and
Canada.

Charles S. Zimmerman, vice president of the International Ladies’ Garment
‘Workers Union.

Albert J. Hayes, president of the International Association of Machinists and
Aerospace ‘Workers.

Ralph Helstein, president of the United Packinghouse, Food & Allied Workers.

Joseph. D. Keenan, secretary of the International Brotherhood of Electrical
‘Workers.

Emil Mazey, secretary-treasurer of the United Automobile, Aerospace & Ag-
ricultural Implement Workers of America.

John J. Murphy, president of the Bricklayers, Masons & Plasterers Inter-
national Union of America.

James A. Suffridge, president of the International Association of Retail Clerks.

Milton P. Webster, vice president of the Brotherhood of Sleeping Car Porters.

Robert Powell, vice president of the International Hod Carriers, Building &
Common Laborers Union of America.

David Sullivan, president of the Building Service Employes International.

Boris Shishkin, director of the AFL-CIO civil rights department, is secre-
tary of the committee.

The AFIL~CIO established close liaison with the President’s committees estab-
lished to advance fair employment and fair housing, and with other Federal
agencies concerned with ecivil rights. This liaison has helped the AFL-CIO
enlist support from appropriate Government agencies for its own efforts to stamp
out discrimination in employment, in fraining, in education, in housing, in public
accommodaiions, and in voting, and to resolve the remaining problems of diserim-
ination within trade union’s own ranks.

A closerworking relationship was maintained during this period by the AFI-
CIO civil rights staff with key cooperating organizations in the intergroup rela-
tions field. Of foremost importance to the day-to-day progress in our work
was the stepped-up effort of our affiliates to extend and activate their own civil
rights programs and to provide the necessary staff to carry these programs for-
ward.

The central civil rights effort of the AFL-CIO through the past 2 years has
been to eliminate the remaining pockets of discrimination in trade unions’ own
ranks and to win communitywide support for social and economic justice for
everyone regardless of religion, nationality, or the color of one’s skin.

Although much more progress is needed, the AFL-CIO has made solid progress
in its civil rights effort over the past 2 years.

PROCESSING OF COMPLAINTS UNDER,THE AFL~CI0O COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE

In the series of meetings held by the civil rights committee during this
period, each meeting was preceded by a session of the committee’s subcommittee
on compliance, where a searching review was made of all complaints and of
staff findings, as well as of efforts made to obtain conformance with the AFI~
CIO -civil rights policy, in accordance with compliance procedure spelled out by
the 1961 convention. 'The subcommittee’s findings and recommendations in each

case were thus promptly placed before the full civil rights committee for
disposition.
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The AFL~CIO civil rights compliance procedure may be described as an exten-
sion of the existing remedies available to complainants of discrimination on the
basis of race, creed, color, or national origin.

The subcommittee on compliance, consisting of five members of the full com-
mittee, at each of its meetings, held prior to full committee meetings, reviewed
the staff reports on each case docketed by the civil rights department.

‘With each complaint received by the department of civil rights, an early
determination of its validity or the department’s jurisdiction was made by the
staff before referring the matter to the appropriate national or international
union for its attention and action. All complaints received, however, were re-
ported to the committee, including those which were dismissed because they did
not involve ecivil rights problems or for other valid reasous.

During the period from January 1, 1962, to July 1, 1963, the department received
a relatively low number of complaints. In several instances, investigations were
initiated on the department’s own motion, on the basis of public information about
alleged practices. The great majority of complaints received by the AFL-CIO
civil rights department were in the categories of alleged discrimination in
admission to membership, in admission to apprenticeship training, in job refer-
rals, and in representation of the complainants in the handling of grievances.

.In every case referred to a national or international union by the department,
the response was prompt and the required action was initiated immediately by
the affiliate involved. The necessary action taken to resolve these complaints
varied from reopening existing collective bargaining agreements in order to
merge seniority districts as was done by the Brotherhood of Railway Clerks in
Houston, Tex., to the simple adoption of programs of affirmative action by local
unions to resolve the existing problem.

SEPARATE LINES OF SENIORITY AND PROMOTIONAL OPPORTUNITIES

The Fourth AFL-CIO Constitutional Convention, December 1961, called on
our affiliates “to see that contracts that they and 'their locals negotiate do not
permit separate lines of seniority on the basis of race, religion, or national origin,
and to see that equal opportunity for tenure, promotion, terms, and conditions
of employment are fully safeguarded for all workers.”

Since the convention, a number of collective bargaining contracts have been
amended and, in other cases, positive steps have been taken to insure that pro-
motion opportunities on an equal basis are available for minority group workers.
Many of these changes have been effected through cooperation by international
unions and their affiliated locals with the AFL-CIO and the President’s Com-
mittee on Equal Employment Opportunity. In many other cases, the initiative
came from the union itself either through direct negotiations with the employer
or through the normal process of the grievance procedure. In addition, some
union locals have, where they have been unable to rectify # discriminatory
practice through collective bargaining, filed complaints against the employer with
the President’s Committee.

Examples of unions either cooperating with the AFL-CIO and the President’s
Committee in effecting equal promotion and seniority rights or taking their own
initiative to gain these rights directly are: International Chemical Workers
Union, Brunswick, Ga., and Jacksonville, Fla.; Metal Trades Council, Lake
Charles La., and Pascagoula, Miss.; Tobacco Workers, Durham, N.C,, and Rich-
mond, Va.; International Uonin of Oil, Chemical, and Atomic Workers, Port
Arthuar and Beaumont, Tex.; United Steelworkers, Birmingham, Ala.; United
Auto Workers, Atlanta, Ga., and Norfolk, Va., and the Textile Workers Union,
Front Royal, Va.

MERGERS OF SEGREGATED LOCALSB

Since the 1961 convention, which ecalled for a concerted and immediate effort
by each affiliate having local unions with membership segregated .on the basis
of race to merge such locals with all possible speed, notable progress has been
made to attain this end. The period saw a wide range of activity undertaken
by our affiliates in this field.

The National Association of Letter Carriers established a special National
Committee on Mergers in April of 1961. As a result of their crash-program
effort, separate locals were rapidly merged in 17 cities, thus ending the existence
of all separation of membership on the basis of race in this union.

Mergers were also successfully accomplished by the Bricklayers. Masons, and
Plasterers International Union in Atlanta, Ga., and Jacksonville, Fla.
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Mergers brought to an end the existence of segregated locals in the Chemical
‘Workers Union with the merger of separate locals in Brunswick, Ga., and in
the Aluminum Worlers Union in Sheffield, Ala. Both international unions thus
achieved 100 percent elimination of segregated locals.

The American Federation of Musicians, having completed successful mergers
of separate loeals in San Franciso, Denver, Sioux City, Hartford, and Cleveland,
has stepped up its drive to merge the remaining segregated locals within its
organization.

Mergers of separate locals in the same community have been accomplished
also by the International Brotherhood of Boilermarkers, the United Brother-
hood of Carpenters, the Communications Workers, the Glass Bottle Blowers,
the Iron Workers, the Maintenance of Way Employes, the Oil, Chemical, and
Atomiec Workers, the Brotherhood of Painters, the Papermakers and Paper-
workers, the Pulp, Sulphite, and Paper Mill Workers, the Operative Plasterers,
and the Brotherhood of Railway Carmen.

Successful mergers have also been reported by the International Association
of Machinists in Norfolk, Va., and by the Iron Workers and the International
Brotherhood of Painters in Charleston, S.C.

A recent survey by the civil rights department indicated that of the 130 na-
tional and international unions affiliated with the AFL-CIO, 106 reported no.
remaining segregated locals as of July 1, 1963. Negotiations have continued
by the remaining 24 organizations to bring about an end to all separate locals im
accordance with AFL-CIO policy.

INTEGRATED FACILITIES AT AFL-CI0 STATE AND CENTRAL BODY MEETINGS AND-
CONVENTIONS

.

On Februry 6, 1962, I sent a directive to all State and local central bodies.
stating that all conventions, meetings, and conferences must be held where.
facilities are available that provided accommodations for all delegates without
discrimination. The directive stated that in those States where housing and
eating facilities on a desegregated basis are not available anywhere, the maxi-
mum in equal facilities available in that State must be obtained.

Since the issuance of this directive, a number of our State central bodies have:
been successful in not only obtaining such facilities from hotels, but also, in:
some cases, themselves making the first breakthrough in local segregation by
insisting on and obtaining full desegregated hotel facilities in the State. For-
example, the 1963 State AFL-CIO Convention in Little Rock, Ark., was held in
the Marion Hotel. The Negro delegates were housed and fed on a completely
equal basis. Following the convention, this hotel has kept an equal accommo-
dations policy.

The Florida State AFL-CIO canceled its 1962 convention arrangements in
Jacksonville because equal accommodations arrangements were not available
for Negro delegates, and moved the convention to Sarasota where such arrange-
ments were obtained. Earlier, the State AFL-CIO Dodies in Texas, North
Carolina, and Virginia were able to obtain completely desegregated facilities in.
hotels in those States.

In the case of Virginia, it will be recalled that the first completely desegre-
gated State AFL-CIO convention was held in 1961, in the Golden Triangle Motel
in Norfolk. Xollowing this, hotels in Richmond and Roanoke agreed to change
their policies and accept reservations on an equal basis for all.

At all of the four area COPE conferences held in the South in 1963, in Nor--
folk, Va.; Gatlinburg, Tenn. ; Houston, Tex.; and Little Rock, Ark., all delegates.
met, were housed and fed without any discrimination or segregation.

The AFL-CIO Civil Rights Department, along with COPE, has been working
jointly with the U.S. Department of Labor and the U.S. Department of State to
find ways of hastening the process of desegregating hotel facilities in all parts
of the country.

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 'IN APPRENTICESHIP TRAINING

The AFL~CIO has given special emphasis in its work to enlist trade union initi-
ative in taking steps to insure equal opportunity in apprenticeship programs,
regardless of race, creed, color, or national origin and in encouraging affirmative
gctions by unions to raise the level of minority group participation in such.
programs.

25-144 0-63—pt. 3—4
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The California. State AFL~CIO has pioneered in this effort. Working in close
cooperation: with intergroup relations organizations in the State, the California
Labor Federation pressed for the establishment by the State of California of a
Statewide Committee on Equal Opportunity in Apprenticeship and Training for
Minority Groups.

This committee, appointed by Governor Brown, adopted a program which in-
cluded these objectives: (1) Promotion of apprenticeship and of employment of
more apprentices by employers, (2) increase in the number of minority youth in
apprenticeship programs and the elimination of any discrimination which may
exist, and (3) arrangements to bring within ready reach of all young people,
including minority youth, information in apprenticeship opportunities, on quali-
fications required for such training, on placement, and on procedures to be
followed in applying.

Among the specific projecis of the California committee was the setting up of
local apprenticeship information centers, a series of surveys of minority group
participation in apprenticeship programs and the setting up of nondiscrimination
standards and their implementation.

The comprehensive California approach has received national attention, and
its features adopted in other State and local programs.

On February 27, 1963, Secretary of Labor Wirtz announced the appointment
of a National Advisory Committee on Equal Opportunity in Apprenticeship,
under the chairmanship of Under Secretary of Labor Henning.

Information centers have already been set up in Washington, D.C., in New
York City, and in several cities in California. Work toward the establishment of
such a center is underway in Chicago, with the cooperation of the Building and
Construction Trades Council in that city. In Philadelphia, the Building Trades
Councl and the ecity’s human relations commission endorsed a proposal- made
there by the AFL-CIO civil rights director, to set up an Apprenticeship Infor-
mation Center.

There are a number of examples of affirmative action by local unions to insure
participation by minority group vouth in the joint apprenticeship programs in
which these unions participate. Here are a few instances of such action.

Local 3 of the IBEW in New York City—as part of the shorter workweek
acreement, won in its last negotiations with the contractors in New York
City—agreed that the joint apprenticeship committee indenture 1,000 addi-
tional apprentices.

In securing this extraordinarily large number of apprentices, Local 3
made special efforts to see that Negro and Puerto Rican youths were aware
of the opportunities and informed that they would have equal opportunity
to be indentured. As a result, between 100 and 200 of the newly indentured
apprentices are Negro and Puerto Rican.

On a smaller scale, IBEW Local 24 in Baltimore, in order to insure that
qualified Negro youngsters would have a chance to enter electrical appren-
tice programs in that city, sent representatives to vocation high schools and
provided senior students with information on the qualifications and pro-
ceduares for making application to the joint-apprenticeship programs. As a
result, four Negro youngsters have been enrolled in the electrical appren-
ticeship program in Baltimore and two have already satisfactorily finished
the-first year’s training.

On Anril 1. 1963, the IAM Tool & Die Makers in Chicago started a pre-
apprenticeship class. This class includes many Negro workers.

PRESIDERNT'S COMMITTEE ON EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY

The accelerated activity of the President’s Committee on Equal Employment
Opportunity under Executive Order 10925 led to a major effort, by the AFL—
CIO Civil Rights Gommittee with the assistance of the civil rights department
staff, to expand and supplement labor’s existing program of affirmative action in
the field of civil rights.

Secretary-Treasurer William F. Schnitzler replaced me on the membership of
the president’s committee. Vice President Walter P. Reuther also serves as
member of the committee.

The AFL-CIO Civil Rights Department maintained close staff liaison with the
committee’s trade union liaison officer, as well as with many of the equal oppor-
tunitv compliance officers of the various agencies in the executive departments of
the Federal Government. Exmneditious handling of problems as they arose was
the result of this cooperative effort.
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On November 15, 1962, the executive officers of some 100 national and inter-
national unions attended a White House ceremony to affix their signatures on
behalf of their respective unions to a joint statement with the President’s Com-
mittee on Equal Employment Opportunity, which served as a commitment to
immediately develop affirmative action programs to deal with problems involving
admission to membership, segregated locals, selection of apprentices, and up-
grading. This became known as the union program for fair practices.

In the months that followed, 18 additional unions signed the joint pledge, thus
bringing the total to 118 unions with over 10 million members.

On January 16, 1963, the first stage of implementation of these pledges began
when each union named an official representative for civil rights to cooperate
with the President's Committee.

In the majority of unions the international president personally assumed this
responsibility, while the remaining organizations designated their already exist-
ing full time staff representatives to serve in this capacity.

In the early months of 1963, unions were engaged in a variety of activities
designed to implement the pledges made in the joint statement.

The role of our affiliates in the elimination and prevention of all activities
engaged in by employers which adversely affect Negro and other minority group
members, has thus been reinforced and further redefined. In a number of cases,
unions have affirmatively acted to bring about changes in hiring, promotion,
and transfer practices of employers, with the cooperation of the President’s
Committee.

Negotiations were in progress during 1963, with the few remaining affiliates
not yet participating in this effort with the aim that they also adop a union
program for fair practices pointly with the President’s Committee.

THE SUMMER, 1963, CIVIL. RIGHTS DRIVE

A special intensified drive to mobilize the resources of the entire labor move-
ment in active and positive participation in the AFL-CIO’s civil rights effort
was launched by us in the summer of 1963, pursuant to- action taken by the
executive courncil at its May 1963, meeting.

This drive was reinforced by close cooperation beifween the AFL-CIO and
the executive branch of the Government, including the President himself, the
Department of Labor, the Department of Justice, the President’s Committee on
Equal Employment Opportunity, and the U.S. Civil Rights Commission.

On June 13, 1963, President Kennedy convened a conference at the White
House in which he, Vice President Johnson, Secretary of Labor Wirtz, and the
Attorney General discussed the ways and means of furthering civil rights with
more than 300 representatives or organized labor.

On June 26, I sent a letter to all State and local central labor bodies urging
them to act promptly on the President’s request for civil rights action to ac-
celerate the destruction of racial barriers at the local level. I pointed out that
the President was requesting no more than the AFL-CIO convention itself had
proposed. I called on those central labor bodies which have not yet acted on
the basis of the AFL-CIO convention actions to proceed forthwith to set up
a civil rights or human rights committee of their own and proceed to implement
the AFL-CIO program. :

This appeal was followed by a circular letter to State and 1oecal central
bodies from Secretary Schnitzler as chairman of the AFL-CIO Standing Com-
mittee on Civil Rights, giving examples of specific positive action taken by
affiliated unions and asking for similar initiative from each central body.

Responses to these appeals from across the Nation indicated ready willingness
for the overwhelming majority of these organizations to undertake a major
civil rights effort at the State and local level.

In another development, on June 21, 1963, a meeting of the general presidents
affiliated with the building and construction trades department adopted a four-
point program designed to end discrimination in admission to membership, in
Jjob referrals, and apprenticeship training.

At their executive board meeting held. the following week, the United Brother-
hood of Carpenters and Joiners, AFL-CIO, called on their general president to
issue a directive to all local unions to enforce nondiscrimination on the basis of
race, creed, color, or national origin in union membership, in any union job
referrals and in apprenticeship programs. Merger of racially segregated local
unions was also called for by the directive. Similar action wds taken the follow-
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ing week by the Operative Plasterers and Cement Masons International Associ-
ation.

With evidence of renewed determination on all sides, labor’s drive for eivil
rights was greatly intensified in the summer of 1963.

On July 22, I appointed a special five-man committee of the AFI—-CIO to
step up the labor movement’s campaign against discrimination. The com-
mittee’s first task is to mount a campaign in 30 to 40 major cities to *“wipe out
discrimination wherever it exists—on the jobs, in the schools, in the voting
booth, in the housing developments, stores, theaters, or recreation areas.”

In a real sense, this is a campaign for the only kind of citizenship an Ameri-
can should understand—full citizenship.

The committee, which is chaired by me, includes AFIL—CIO,/ Secretary-Treas-
urer William F. Schnitzler, Walter P. Reuther, president of the industrial union
department, O, J. Haggerty, president of the building trades department and
A. Philip Randolph, president of the Brothierhood of Sleeping Car Porters.
Messrs. Reuther and Randolph are vice presidents of the AFL-CIO.

Special staff is being recruited from the international unions affiliates and
assigned to the committee.

In addition, I have instructed the directors of key AFL-CIO departments to
work closely with this special staff. The directors of the legislative, political
education, public relations, worker education, publications, and research de-
partments, have been instructed to work closely with staff of the committee and
to assign whatever manpower may be necessary to implement its work,

Reports I have received from my earlier directive to the AFL-CIO’s State
and city central bodies, urging establishment of biracial committees, were most
encouraging. But biracial eommittees still must be established in many cities
and nearly all those already existing must be strengthened. This is the first
task of the committee.

WORK OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS DEPARTMENT, AFL—-CIO

Included among the responsibilities of the department of civil rights are staff
services to the executive officers of the AFI-CIO on all matters involving the
effectuation of the AFL-CIO policies in the field of civil rights and civil liberties;
staff services to the AFL-CIO standing committee on civil rights and its sub-
committee on compliance, as well as the AFL-CIO Southern Advisory Committee
on Civil Rights.

Foremost attention of the department’s staff is devoted to the processing of
complaints as well as staff investigations of its own in cases of alleged or reported
practices that are contrary to the AFL~CIO civil rights policy. Equally impor-
tant are services its staff renders to national and international affiliates as well
as State and local central labor bodies in assisting them to carry forward ecivil
rights programs of their own. This includes close cooperation with the civil
rights committee or the specially desiznated civil rights officer of each affiltate.
The department’s staff also assists affiliated unions in the negotiation of anti-
diserimination clauses in collective bargaining agreements between these unions
and employers. Special problems of some affiliates, such as the effectuation of
mergers of their remaining segregated local unions or assurance of non-
discrimination in apprenticeship training programs jointly miaintained by these
unions with management, likewise call for assistance by the department’s
staff.

‘Working closely with other headquarters departments, the department of civil
rights, in addition, services AFI—~CIO programs directed against diserimination
in housing. in public accommodations, in schools, and in the exercise of citizens’
voting rights. It assists the department of legislation in pressing for the enact-
ment of civil rights, fair employment practice, and fair housing legislation in
the Congress and in the legislatures of several States. In ecoperation with the
department of education, the department of civil rights participated in program-
ing as well as staffing of -civil righis sessions int 1abor schools, summer institutes,
and conferences sponored by our affiliates in all part of the country. Mounted
jointly by the two departments was a major program of distribution to affiliates
of significant civil rights films and of discussion guides on civil righis problems.
This supplemented the department’s own effort to provide civil rights pamphlets,
publications and reference materials to our afifiliates and to all interested groups.

The onsurge of events which made civil rights-the center of national concern
in 1963, with labor’s stepped up drive to speed the practical achievement of cqual
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-opportunity in the summer of that year, greatly inereased the call for department
services.

The staff of the department of ecivil rights consists of Boris Shishkin, director;
Donald Slaiman and Walter Davis, assistant directors; and a secretarial staff.

Mr. CeLrer. The chairman wishes to put in the record a statement
by our distinguished colleague from South Carolina, L. Mendel Rivers,
and a statement from our distinguished colleague from Alabama,
‘George Huddleston, in opposition to the bill.

(The documents referred above are as follows:)

STATEMENT oF HoN. L. MENDEL RIVERs, DEMOCRAT, OF SOUTH CAROLINA, IN
OrpposITION TO CIvin. RIGHTS BOL

Mr. Chairman, distinguished members of the Judiciary Committee, I appear
‘before you foday on a matter of grave concern, fhe great tragedy besetting
America in the turmoil over so-called civil rights. -

I cannot overemphasize the importance of this legislation. That your com-
mittee hearing is uppermost in the minds of America today is unquestionable.

We can see the mobs demonstrating in the streets, shrieking their demands
in the face of armed police patrols in racial-troubled communities, Death walks
-our streets nightly.

To those of us who love America, this wholesale turmoil perpetrated under
the guise of civil rights is a tragic, ominous, and almost unbelievable development.

Even now the mob stands at the threshold of the sacred halls of the Congress,
a blatant attempt to intimidate, to stampede, to coerce, to harass us into ap-
proving this legislation.

1 for one, will not be intimidated, nor will I be coerced.

Mr. Chairman, the great philosopher and poet, Dante, wrote in Canto IIT
of his “Dante’s Inferno,” as he descended into the murky depths of hell, “All
hope abandon, ye who enter here.”

Mr. Chairman, we must not plunge America into the holocaust of a racial hell
by further encouraging the defiance of law and order which the demonstrators
now exhibit.

This is only the beginning of an even more tragic pathh for the American
Negro.

Led into revolutionary methods by his arrogant, militant leaders, he will
only create a reactionary struggle against his former peaceful advancement
among the white commurity.

Violence begets violence; revolutionary methods only fan the passions already
at white heat.

The so-called civil rights bill, if enacted into law, instead of creating a better
life for the American Negro will only nurture the seeds of discord now permeating
our communities and ultimately destroy him.

Look at Savannah, Ga., where lawless mobs slashed tires, stoned police,
wrecked stores. Are thdse who inspired and perpetrated such aects responsible
citizens? Do they deserve the support of the Congress?

In nearby Maryland, gunfire is a nightly occurrence; even troops have been
shot. The situation there has been described as “almost like war.” .

Mr. Chairman, I agree there must be a solution to the racial problems plaguing
our Nation, but I submit it must be through orderly cultural evolution, not
Tevolution.

‘When the turmoil ceases, when passions wane, then the white man and Negro
must still tind a way to live in harmony not only in the South, which has the-
bulk of the Negro population and which shoulders the greater part of the burden
of assisting them, financially and otherwise, but also ir the North, BEast, and
West.

‘We do not do him a service by such legislation as proposed here, but only
a disservice. both to him and the white people.

Mr. Chairman, as early as 1787, responsible men, the men who wrote our
Constitution, knew that slavery was evil and doomed to die. But this institution
had become so woven into our American life that time was needed to remove
it.

It could have been removed without the sea of blood that was poured out
during and following the Civil War. Leaders in the North, Abraham I.incoln, for
instance, and many Southern slaveowners were groping toward a means of
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sending the slaves back to Africa and to aid them there to develop their own
independent nation and to lead their own way of life.

It was hatred, fanned to white heat, that made possible the awful inferno
of the Civil War.

The slaves set free by the American Civil War were of a race which had never
developed a civilization of its own. These people had no racial pride, nor racial
traditions. Their forebears had known nothing but slavery, either in the
Western Hemisphere or in their African homeland.

These were the people, illiterate and without property, who, in one violent
step, were declared equal heirs of a civilization which it had taken the white man
thousands of years to develop.

The Southern white man, upon whom fell the task of helping these people
assimilate an ancient and alien culture, was himself pauperized, demoralized,
and embittered by war.

'I:[.n brief, he was a man whose own way of life had been shattered by military
action. ’

Yet, somehow, he shouldered this monumental burden.

Any American who has a sense of shame or apologetic feeling about the
history of the colored man in the United States should look at the history of his
advancement elsewhere. Take, for example, his history in Haiti. Haiti was a
French colonial possession from 1697 to 1804. During this period, it was the
most prosperous European colony in the Western Hemisphere. In 1804, Haiti
became independent under the rule of Jean Jacques Dessalines, who crowned
himself emperor. He began his regime by massacring all whites. Haiti has
been an all-Negro nation since.

The civilization taken over was as advanced as any in the Western Hemisphere.
Yet, since that time, Haiti has been 4 land of brutal violence, bloody anarchy,
tyranny, and poverty except for a 19-year period when it was under U.S.
occupation.

Today, this Republic is the most illiterate and depressed area in this hemis-
phere despite massive U.S. aid.

But, on the other hand, take the history of the American Negro. Since 1865,
he has made more progress than has any race during 1,000 years of history.

During this period, he has made a miraculous advancement toward full inte-
gration-into the white man’s ancient culture—not integration in the contemporary
sense of losing his racial identity by full amalgamation, but integration in the
sense he began to develop a pride in his race, and with the help of the white
man, began to develop his own cultural and educational institutions, establish
his own businesses and homes.

‘With marvelous sveed, the American Negro, thanks to the understanding and
and sympathetic aid of the southern white man, was becoming a proud and dis-
tinctive part of the total American people.

But today, what do we have? We have a major American tragedy. Peaceful
communities are transformed into caldrons of violence. Death strikes almost
daily, it seems.

The militant Negro leaders, encouraged by such proposed legislation as the so-
called civil rights bill, are utterly destroying the evolutionary process through
which their race has advanced so rapidly.

And all the power of Washington can never bring about an understanding, a
sympathy, or a desire to live in harmony such as did exist in the South prior to
the onslaught of racial agitators.

Each succeeding day compounds the problems of both races. N

‘Washington appears determined to destroy the amity between the races in the
South. But you have only to look at our Capital, where women and strong men
Tear to venture forth after night, to see what forced integration has brought to
the people.

On June 19, President Kennedy asked the Congress for legislation which
would, among other things, prohibit, in elections involving Federal offices, the
application of different tests and standards to voter applicants. .

One of the most important powers of State government is that of establishing
voter qualifications. No subject was more thoroughly debated during the Con-
stitutional Convention of 1787.

‘When an illiterate and irresponsible individual of any race has as much voice
in selecting national rulers and changing the organic law of the land as does an
industrious, responsible citizen, what is to prevent the drones of society from
plundering the productive citizens?
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The Founding Fathers were aware of this danger. They had studied the rec-
ord of how it had destroyed ancient civilizations just as similar situations create
poverty, wild disorder, and tyranny in many Latin American nations.

The Founding Fathers wanted a constitutional system in which all, high and
low, rich and poor, good and bad, lazy and hard-working, thrifty and profligate,
weak and strong, educated and illiterate, would be equal before the law.

All would be equally free to lead their own kind of life, as long as they did not
infringe on the rights of others.

But the Founding Fathers felt that the vote which, in final analysis, is the
power to direct the affairs of this Nation, should be restricted to mature indi-
viduals. Individuals who could understand, have some vested interest in the
necessity of maintaining a constifutional system of government.

Hence, there was demand in the Constitutional Convention of 1787, that the
right to vote be somehow restricted to responsible citizens. This proposal, how-
ever, was defeated, because of a greater fear of creating a foo-strong Federal
Government.

They. feared a Federal Government so strong it could destroy State govern-
ments and eliminate God-given rights of individuals. While admitting the
need for voter qualification, the Founding Fathers felt there was a greater
need to leave this basic attribute of sovereignty to the individual States.

Ag to the need for action to guarantee qualified Negroes the right to vote,
there is no need. Throughout the South, voter qualifications, whether they be
poll tax or literacy requirements, apply equally to both races.

The proposal for a law requiring that civil rights “voting” suits be given
preferential treatment in the Federal ecourts nullifies the constitutional con-
cept of equality before the law.

‘Why should litigation by one class or color be given preference over litiga-
tion by other citizens?

In one proposal under Federal programs, the President asks for authority to
withhold Iederal funds, at his discretion, where racial discrimination exists. I
would interpret this as a reversal of a stand he took in April when he rejected
a Civil Rights Commission proposal that Federal funds be withheld from States
and communities which discriminate.

I would assume the President did not like this proposal because it might have
required him to withhold all Federal aid to offending States or communities. I
must further assume he wants a free hand, and absolute authority fo grant
or withhold aid as he pleases whether racial discrimination is practiced or not.
This is the broad authority he asks the Congress to grant.

In the desegregation of schools section, we are asked to grant authority
for the Attorney General to initiate, in Federal distriet courts, legal proceedings
against school boards and tax-supported colleges, or fo intervene in existing
ones, whenever the Attorney General receives a written complaint from any
parent or student who says he is being denied “Equal protection of the laws™
because of segregation.

‘What could be more unequal and discrimiinatory than to give one particular
class of citizens the special privilege of bypassing the normal channels of justice
which ordinary citizens must follow?

I submit that any agitator or troublemaker who happens to be a Negro can
bring public school and college officials into Federal court, by merely writing
a letter to the Attorney General.

The agitator would be represented, at no cost to himself. by officials and
attorneys of the Federal Government.

But, I respectfully submit, the equal aceommodations in public facilities aspect
of the proposed legislation is the most dangerous of all. If this is enacted, the
American ecitizen will have no right to own or use private property, unless he
uses it in a way that officialdom considers to be consistent with the publie
interest.

Today, it is the demands of racial agitation groups which fix official notions
of what is consistent with public interest. Tomorrow, it could be something else.

‘We are being asked to place restrictions on initiative, to create an artificial
equality, and to engage in legislative experiments outlawing discrimination. But
by whose concept shall diserimination be adjudged? ?

And béar in mind that under this'bill every business in:the United.States:that
is subject to the provisions of the bill can be kept in court, defending itself at
its own expense, indeflnitely with the full power and the entire Treasury of the
United States being used against them. The power that is sought in this bill
could destroy every private business enferprise in the Nation.
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Mr. Chairman, I know that my appearance here will not make the slightest
impression on your deliberation. I ain not that naive. I come from the wrong
section of the Nation to make any impact on this subcommittee. You have chosen
its membership well and you have seen to it that no southerner serves on this
committee. Therefore, my section is discriminated against in the rankest sort of
way. I have called this to your attention many times before. You know and I
know that this is a political bill, nothing more and nothing less. Everything pro-
posed in this bill now you can get by the fourth branch of the Federal Govern-
1ment, the legislative Supreme Court.

Mr. Chairman, you have been most cordial to me and your subcommittee has
been most respectful. For this, I am grateful. You have been patient, and for
this, I am thankful. But I know that I have disturbed the even surface of your
mood more lightly than the- titled swallow’s wing disturbs the limpid, glassy
solitude of some clear pool. When I am gone, it will be just the same, nothing to
remind you that I ever came.

Mr. Chairman, you have presided over this committee for a long time but you
-could well be presiding, too, over the liquidation of the Democratic Party in these
United States. I caution you, in all sincerity and in all friendliness, to go slow on
this proposal. America is nearer civil strife today than at any time since 1861.
You have it in your possession to delay this eonflict. Before this bill will have
Dbeen enacted and you have the power to ram it through the House, there will be
2 march on Washington. I pray that when this march comes, you will be able
to advise your army because they are going to need some adviece and a lot of
Innocent people are going to need some. protection.

Thank you very much.

STATEMENT OF CONGRESSMAN GEORGE HUDDLESTOXN, JR., IN OPPOSITION TO
ENaAcTMENT oF H.R. 7152—Crvmx. R16HTs AcT oF 1963

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my name is George Huddles-
ton, Jr., and I come before you this morning to express my opposition to H.R.
7152, the so-called civil rights bill. .

On July 19, 1963, the administration sent to Congress its legislative proposals.
The message and the program the administration asks for is a dangerous piece of
politicoeconomic demagoguery. I might say that generally these proposals
hold out the prospect to many of our less qualified, less skilled Negroes of getting
something for nothing. The tragedy of this approach is that it is false and mis-
leading.

A further problem of the administration’s message and the civil rights bills
is that much of the administration’s controversial economiec legislative pro-
posals are tied to it, apparently in an effort to stampede the Congress into aection.
Additionally, the bill asks that Congress forgo its traditional role, and to break
with the Federal concept that each of the three coequal branches of the Federal
Government act as a check on the others. Because of the tensions and pres-
sures being fomented, created, and continued by Negro demonstrators, the
President has asked the Congress to give the executive branch of the Government
new and unusual powers over the daily lives of the American people and new
<control over their individually and corporately owned businesses. In making
these requests to the Congress, the President cites the already awesome and
-dreadful power of the ¥ederal bureaucracy and the economic tenacles that
extend into all communities of our Nation. He asks for blanket legislation
allowing individual Federal administrators to withhold or give funds fo
<ongressionally authorized programs. In short, this asks that the Congress
forgo its right and duty to appropriate funds and to direct the way in which
they shall be spent.

Despite assertions to the contrary, it is by no means clear that these proposais
contained in H.R. 7152 are constitutional. It is clear that the administration
is endeavoring to extend the powers of the executive branch and that the legis-
Jation he asks for is new, unusual, experimental, and expedient. Although
the commerce clause of the Constitution is cited as a basis for his action, he
jgnores the more basic rights that a -man has in operating a business free of
covernmental coercion and restraint. Property rights are merely an extension
of human rights. He has asked for powers to enable the Justice Department to
investigate the businessman who chooses to run his place of business in the
manner he sees fit. Mr. Chairman, this is a big country and the Justice Depart-
ment will find it eannot investigate every complaint from every drunk and
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sorchead in the 50 States. These proposals are an attack on the American free
enterprise system and every thinking American must be made aware of the
dangers presented by such preposterous proposals.

Mr. Ghan'man, it is a terrible sign of weakness that the adnnmstmtlon has
given in to the demands of those troublemakers and agitators who have been
trooping up and down the countryside for the last several months. The President
now asks for laws placding a stamp approval of their actions, actions which are
both illegal and dangerous and which breed tension and violence. I am hopeful
Congress will not concur in their action. The problems are of a local nature.
The complaints and demands of the Negroes are geared to local grievances, and
the best solutions will be local solutions. Yet the President is asking for national
laws and Justlﬁes this request by asserting, mistakenly, that “only the Federal
Government, it is clear, can make these demonstrations unnecessary by providing
peaceful remedies for the alleged grievances which set them off.”

Further. it is asked that something he called a Community Relations Service
be established to actively meddle in the affairs of individual communities. This
Federal bureau would have broad powers to investigate, its work would be
secret, and the Congress is asked to give such a bureau enforcement and subpena
powers. Mr. Chairman, there is no need for any such service, bureau, or other
investigative body.

In the same message the President asks for the continuation of the Civil
Rights Commission, that useless creature which has yet to justify its existence.
Community Relations Service, Civil Rights Commission, Civil Rights Division in
the Justice Department, and job favoritism to Negroes, Mr. Chairman, will only
create civil discord and discontent.

At one stage of his message to the Congress, the President says, “The enact-
ment of the legislation I have recommended will not solve our problems of race
relations.” And, Mr. Chairman, that much is true. The proposals contained
iu H.R. 7152, if enacted, would create more problems, cause greater burdens, and
be more inequitable than any of the so-called problems and wrongs they are
designed to eliminate. These proposals are essentially a bid to have greater
power yielded over to the Central Government. Broad discretionary powers
are asked for Federal administrators to allow them to withhold or give funds
to areas where alleged violations of the Federal Government whim occurs. This
request cannot be granted and must not be granted.

Now, Mr. Chairman, I wish to deal with the problems of those demonstrators
whom the President is so anxious to appease. As the President says—“These
demonstrations have increasingly endangered lives and property, inflamed emo-
tions, and unnecessarily divided communities” Now the President seeks to
give these unlawful demonstrators what they want, give them what has not
been earned. He asks for new laws and legislation for these people who have
not used the legal resources now at hand, who have not exhausted their legal

" remedies, but who take to the streets. He is yieldirg to the pressure of the
mob. They have not petitioned Congress for redress of grievances real or
imagined ; they have broken the law leading unruly mobs into the streets, mis-
led and callously used little children, and endangered their lives and the lives
of others in pursuit of money and power. Now he asks for legislation that
these men want. The bill aske legal sanction for the unlawful. Such laws would
demand respect for the disrespectful and would give special privileges un-
enjoyed by any other group.

Passage of H.R. 7152 will give, as a gift outright, what every group of Ameri-
cans has earned for itself. No good can come from it. Even now a march
on Washington by these same irresponsible elements is being planned. They
riot in the streets until they get their way in the name of so-called justice.
There is no justice in these proposals for behind the enforcement powers asked
for is the full military power of the United States. That these military force
powers can and will be used is obvious. I believe that all Americans should
be deeply concerned about use of Federal power to control the lives and businesses:
of its citizenry.

I am hopeful and confident that every Member of Congress will g1ve these
proposals careful and thoughtful consideration. Certainly if there ever was
a time for thoughtful, careful concern on the part of Congress it is now.

Thank you,

Mr. Cerrer. We will now adjourn and réassemble at 2:15.
(Whereupon, at 12:30 p.n., the committee was adjourned to recon-
vene at 2:15 p.m. of the same day.)
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Mr. Cerrer. The hearing will come to order.

Our first witness this afternoon is Mr. Aryay Lenske, executive sec-
retary of the National Lawyers Guild. I understand, Mr. Lenske, you
are accompanied by Mr. George W. Crockett, Jr., and Mr. Benjamin
Smith of New Orleans,and Mr. Crockett of Detroit.

Mr. Syrre. My name is Benjamin Smith. Mr. Lenske is not here.
I am a member of the board of the National Lawyers Guild. With
me is Mr. William Higgs. Mr. Lenske wrote the letter, Mr. Chair-
Ez_m. I was designated to represent the guild along with Mr. William

iggs.

Mr. Cerrzr. Do you have a statement?

Mr. Smrre. Yes, I doj I have no letter to distribute to the commit-
tee, but I would like to start off with a statement of which I have the
only copy.

STATEMENT OF BENJAMIN SMITH, MEMBER, EXECUTIVE BOARD,
THE NATIONAL LAWYERS GUILD, ACCOMPANIED BY WILLIAM
HIGGS, DIRECTOR, WASHINGTON HUMAN RIGHTS PROJECT

Mr. Syrra. Mr. Chairman, I would first start off and say that the
National Lawyers Guild has read with care and with approval the
text of the proposed civil rights legislation that this committee is now
considering and that we wholeheartedly endorse the statute as it now
stands, but with certain recommendations to make in regard to certain
parts of it.

I am going to confine my remarks to comments relative to certain -
cases involving titles 18 and 42, the portion relative to remand of civil
rights cases back to the Federal district courts and Mr. Higgs is going
to devote a portion or all of his testimony to matters covering voting
rights, that portion of the bill.

I would Iike to lead off and say that we believe that this Congress
must take and should take immediate steps to protect the safety of
those, both. Negro and white, who are engaged in the fight for civil
rights. Our daily newspapers describe only a few of the unlawful
official acts, shootings, and beatings by police and officials. Charges
against integration leaders—

Mrag}m.mm. Are you reading from a statement which you have sub-
mitted ?

Mr. Syora. T have not submitted it, Mr. Chairman. This is the
only copy I have of it.

Mr, . Our rules require that a statement be submitted in ad-
vance for the convenience of the members.

Mr. Smrra. I am sorry. If that is the rules, I will simply testify
without reading from the statement, if that is permissible.

Mr. Cerrer. Allright. Goahead.

Mr. Suara. We wish to call particularly to the attention of the
committes the prosecutions that take place under title 18, sections 241
and 242. Many times these are ineffective prosecutions because of
the difficulty of showing an intent to deprive a citizen of his civil rights,
under the color of law. We found what would be a remedy to this
situation in Mr. Kastenmeier’s proposal; that is, that there be an
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amendment to those two sections of title 18, which would (as provided
in the first section of H.R. 6030) eliminate the necessity for such a find-
ing of intent by prohibiting the performance of six specific acts under
color law. These are—
1) Subjecting any person to physical injury for unlawful purpose;
2) Subjecting anyone to unnecessary force during the course of
arre